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          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Good afternoon.

          3  My name is David Yassky.  I chair the City Council

          4  Committee on Small Business.  I am joined today by

          5  Gale Brewer, the Chair of the Council Committee on

          6  Technology, and some of our colleagues, to have a

          7  hearing on the gradual, but all too apparent,

          8  disappearance of neighborhood mom and pop stores on

          9  our neighborhood retail strips. The mom and pop

         10  store is one of the forgotten pillars of New York

         11  neighborhoods.  For many New Yorkers the retail

         12  storefront strip in their neighborhood is a critical

         13  part of their day-to-day experience and a critical

         14  part of why they love their neighborhood and maybe

         15  even why they came there in the first place. It

         16  contributes to the feel and the character of the

         17  neighborhood and, of course, provides essential

         18  services for folks who live there.

         19                 In addition to providing those

         20  services, neighborhood stores, mom and pop stores,

         21  often are the kind of good, corporate citizens that

         22  a neighborhood needs, sponsoring the little league

         23  team, buying tables at the YMCA annual dinners.

         24  They do things that the chain stores and the cell

         25  phone outlets and the banks just don't necessarily
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          2  do.  So I believe that our neighborhoods and our

          3  neighborhood residents, have an enormous stake in

          4  trying to do whatever we can to keep the mom and pop

          5  stores viable in the City.

          6                 The purpose of today's Hearing is to

          7  explore some of the ways in which we might be able

          8  to do that, and I will be frank and candid here at

          9  the outset to say I'm not here thinking that I know

         10  what the solution is.  I think that we have a

         11  problem.  I think that we have a real issue that we

         12  need to identify and focus on.

         13                 We have some thoughts as to what sort

         14  of solutions we ought to consider.  Things like tax

         15  breaks for owner occupied small business

         16  storefronts, so that people aren't driven out of

         17  business or driven to rent to a chain store by the

         18  burden of taxes. Zoning ideas like what's being done

         19  now in Upper Manhattan where the rules tell certain

         20  kinds of stores that they have to be on the second

         21  floor to try and leave the ground floor retail for

         22  mom and pops.  I think we need to look at those, see

         23  how they might work, see what evidence we have about

         24  what's been done so far to see if they do work.

         25                 But I think that most of all we
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          2  really need a focused effort to try and do something

          3  here.  I know that Commissioner Rob Walsh, who we're

          4  going to hear from in a moment, the Commissioner of

          5  the Department of Small Business Services, has

          6  really given a great deal of thought and effort to

          7  this in his tenure as Commissioner.  So even before

          8  we hear from him, I want to just thank him for all

          9  the time and effort he's put in thinking about this.

         10                 Before we proceed with our witnesses,

         11  my co-chair, Gale Brewer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         13  much.  It's a pleasure to work on this issue with

         14  Council Member David Yassky and a great staff.  I

         15  want to just say technology may be a stretch in

         16  terms of being a solution.  It's just one aspect.  I

         17  share Council Member Yassky's sentiments that we

         18  don't know the answer to this, but we do know that

         19  we want to come up with some solutions.

         20                 I represent the West Side of

         21  Manhattan.  I know there are many West Siders here

         22  today.  This is, however, I think an issue in any

         23  gentrifying community in the City of New York. Just

         24  to give an example of our challenge, I don't want to

         25  pick on branches of banks because there are many
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          2  other stores that take up large storefronts and that

          3  are not independent.  But we actually put together a

          4  list of in this particular case, from 54th Street to

          5  96th Street, from Central Park over to the Hudson

          6  River, there are 54 branches of banks.  I would

          7  consider that over saturation.

          8                 I want to just mention also that we

          9  looked forward today to see many different kinds of

         10  possibilities that range from tax issues to zoning

         11  issues, because I share the Technology Committee, I

         12  do think that it could be some kind of vehicle to

         13  also address the issue.  It's everything from the

         14  fact that technology needs to be part of a business

         15  plan in Brooklyn when we've had hearings on

         16  broadband.  One of the issues that has come up is

         17  that broadband is needed in all the neighborhoods

         18  inexpensively and quickly in terms of fast response,

         19  because so many websites in small business world

         20  need to include video, and it's not always possible.

         21    So that's just a citywide issue that we're looking

         22  at in terms of broadband solutions.

         23                 I also want to indicate that in the

         24  Mayor's Office of Small Business Services, and we'll

         25  hear later from the Commissioner, does have an
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          2  online service called Business Express. I think

          3  we're all aware of it.  We visited it.  It allows

          4  small business and all business owners to get

          5  information to start and grow their businesses.  It

          6  talks about incentives and permits and licenses and

          7  tries to be a one- stop for government.  It's a very

          8  good service, but it only provides information for

          9  those who are looking to start a business, and

         10  particularly the restaurant industry, as well as

         11  other small businesses, but it doesn't necessarily

         12  help you with this horrendous rent issue, which is

         13  what we're facing, at least in my neighborhood, and

         14  I think citywide.

         15                 Utah has been looking at some of

         16  these issues with a one- stop business registration

         17  system.  Missouri, again, hardly an urban

         18  gentrifined area, but they're trying to do something

         19  similar.  Chicago has Biz Connection, which is also

         20  trying, again, not necessarily the same as what

         21  we're facing here in New York.

         22                 So this is something that will run,

         23  because of time, we were not able to run this on the

         24  screen, but you'll see it as we go through.  You can

         25  look at it at your leisure.  I think most
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          2  importantly, however, is to hear from you and to

          3  hear from the City of New York and the

          4  Administration.  So without further ado, we will

          5  begin the hearing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you.  So

          7  our first witness is Commissioner Walsh from the

          8  Department of Small Business Services.  I believe he

          9  will be joined by other folks, which you can

         10  introduce when you come up.  So please come up and

         11  take your seat.  While you're doing that, two

         12  things.  One, administrative, I just want to advise

         13  everybody who is here.  We have to be out of this

         14  room by 3:30.  If the hearing doesn't last that

         15  long, that's fine too.  So if there are folks who

         16  want to testify and want to be heard, I just want to

         17  tell you right up front that 3:30 we drop dead

         18  deadline have to vacate the room, so if we can't

         19  hear everybody by then, we're still going to have to

         20  end the hearing.

         21                 Also, a member of my staff just

         22  handed me, I guess there was an article in the paper

         23  this morning about this hearing. A stack of, I'm not

         24  going to count them, but there have to be more than

         25  50 e- mails that were sent to me and Council Member
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          2  Brewer or one of us, since this morning, since the

          3  article appeared.  I've just been leafing through

          4  them, and they all say much the same thing, which

          5  is, as this woman says, in my neighborhood there's

          6  plenty of real estates and plenty of chain drug

          7  stores, but there's no place to get pantyhose,

          8  inexpensive household items or fresh bread.  You

          9  know, it's not common to get this kind of e- mail

         10  response from an issue being in the newspaper, so I

         11  think it just kind of underscores the depth of

         12  feeling out there.

         13                 Commissioner Walsh, thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Chairman,

         15  just to mark my appearance.  I don't know whether

         16  it's important to do that on the tape, but I think

         17  it might be.  I'm a member of the Technology

         18  Committee, and I'm pleased to join you.  I will have

         19  to share the afternoon because I'm also a member of

         20  the Environmental Committee that's meeting next

         21  door.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you for

         23  being here, Council Member Koppell.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  Thank you very

         25  much.  Good afternoon, everybody.  Chair Brewer,
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          2  Chair Yassky, Council Member Koppell and members of

          3  the Committee.  My name is Rob Walsh, and I am the

          4  Commissioner of the Department of Small Business

          5  Services. I'm joined here by Deputy Commissioner

          6  David Margalit and Tracie Abbott, who is our

          7  Executive Director of Program Management, which

          8  means she oversees our business solution centers,

          9  our vehicle for reaching out to small businesses.

         10                 Throughout the City we're certainly

         11  seeing a lot of progress.  Tourism is at an all time

         12  high, crimes rates an all time low.  We're seeing

         13  neighborhoods prosper and business quite well in

         14  many corners of the City.

         15                 At the same time, as you already

         16  said, we do face a problem.  We do face challenges

         17  throughout our neighborhoods, and I think this

         18  hearing that you're having today sheds a lot of

         19  light on these important issues, and the

         20  Administration is committed to working with you on

         21  creative solutions on how we can end up helping our

         22  mom and pop shops throughout the five boroughs.

         23  It's certainly an issue.  It's a reason why this

         24  Mayor six years ago created a Department of Small

         25  Business Services, something that did not exist in
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          2  the City until it was created to champion the

          3  200,000 small businesses that operate in the City

          4  neighborhoods and recognized that small businesses

          5  are not only the backbone of our economy, but also

          6  distinguishes our City as a very special place to

          7  be, to live, work and enjoy.

          8                 When I was preparing for this

          9  testimony, I couldn't help but think back of my days

         10  when I ran a business improvement district at Union

         11  Square.  It was the early 90's and we faced a lot of

         12  vacancies.  Chair Brewer, you talked about the banks

         13  and the saturation of banks.  I can remember when we

         14  had the consolidation of places like Chemical and

         15  Manny Hanee (phonetic) and Marine Midland, and they

         16  left these large plots of land, and as a new person

         17  up in that area, I didn't know what we were going to

         18  do with these areas.

         19                 We were at that time, the community

         20  leaders working hard to attract investment and, yes,

         21  we were one of them that ended up chasing national

         22  chains, whether it was a Starbucks or a Barnes and

         23  Noble or a Virgin Records or other places, to mix in

         24  with small businesses.  I think that's one of the

         25  challenges that we face.  I don't have the answer in
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          2  terms of how it blends together, but there are a

          3  number of examples where it has worked well.

          4                 I think back in my old neighborhood

          5  where I worked, some of those small businesses were

          6  able to ride the wave, if you will, grow and prosper

          7  and develop.  I think of what Danny Meyer with his

          8  restaurants and Rothman's at Union Square and

          9  Paragon and ABC Carpet and Home.  They all started

         10  as small businesses, and they were able to develop

         11  and prosper along the way.  Many have not, and many

         12  have been pushed out, and many have been gouged by

         13  landlords.  Unfortunately, we see that all

         14  throughout the City.

         15                 Other places I go in this City in

         16  this job there is still a need for banks and drug

         17  stores and white tablecloth restaurants.  I think of

         18  my work with Colvin Grannum out at Bed Stuy

         19  restoration.  They celebrated the fact that they had

         20  an Applebee's that came to their neighborhood.  We

         21  are working in so many other areas, and the Council

         22  has been very supportive of that to open up banks in

         23  underserved areas.  I think the balance on that is a

         24  real complicated one, and I wish had a magic bullet

         25  to answer that.  I don't.
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          2                 I can tell you what we have worked

          3  hard at at the agency and will continue to work hard

          4  at in helping small businesses.  The key way has

          5  been to empower the commercial districts.  Chair

          6  Brewer, Chair Yassky, Councilman Koppell, you've all

          7  been supportive of local development corporations

          8  and business improvement district, and I appreciate

          9  that.  We've been able to energize that program in a

         10  very special way.  Yesterday the Mayor signed a bill

         11  with your support that created another one in

         12  Sunnyside.  Many of our business improvement

         13  districts focus on main streets and keeping the

         14  character of the main streets.  They have provided

         15  some very essential services.

         16                 I think one of the biggest services

         17  that they provide is they bring people together,

         18  bring people together to deal with solutions to

         19  market many of these mom and pop shops that we're

         20  talking about.  This is something that we just need

         21  to continue to do is to focus on many of these

         22  areas.  I think of what's happening in Letitia

         23  James' district, particularly Myrtle Avenue, which

         24  I've been spending a lot of time on with a new bid,

         25  the Myrtle Avenue Business Improvement District,
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          2  where you're seeing a lot of mom and pop shops that

          3  have opened up.

          4                 The success of some of the stronger

          5  retail and perhaps in some cases what's happened is

          6  we have entrepreneurs who are exploring and pushing

          7  and have created other retail corridors. Myrtle

          8  Avenue is one that I believe that has developed

          9  probably because some of these businesses have been

         10  probably pushed out and not been able to afford some

         11  of the corridors where there's greater foot traffic.

         12    I'm not saying that's a good thing.  In some ways

         13  it's a good thing that you have entrepreneurs who

         14  are pushing and pushing the envelope, and we're

         15  working to make sure that we can help in every which

         16  way.

         17                 We have also spent a lot more time as

         18  an agency over the last six years of reaching out

         19  through our business outreach teams.  This is an

         20  effort that Tracie Abbott brings to the table of

         21  going out into retail corridors to help small

         22  businesses with their needs, whether it's navigating

         23  government, or helping with permits or getting

         24  information out about incentives, and making sure

         25  that when we get our list of 311 requests, that we
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          2  follow up and we follow up quickly.

          3                 You mentioned our website.  We spent

          4  a lot of time getting information on the website to

          5  make sure that information is available, and

          6  bringing in small businesses on a regular basis to

          7  talk about issues that they face.  That is what the

          8  creation of business solutions has been all about.

          9                 When I came in in early 2002, we

         10  virtually had no serviced- based programs in the

         11  trenches to help small businesses. I'm happy to say

         12  that we've been able to help thousands of

         13  businesses, whether it's through the website, 311,

         14  going out door- to- door to help businesses, we've

         15  been able to help with financing. We have been able

         16  to help as businesses grow and develop, and it has

         17  been an aggressive approach.

         18                 One of the reasons it's worked is

         19  we've been able to partner with some of the best

         20  non- profits in the community.  I think sometimes

         21  you have realize your role in government, and that

         22  is you don't do it the best.  There are groups out

         23  there that do do it well.  There's no reason to re-

         24  invent the wheel.  We have teamed up with groups

         25  like Seedco, Chambers of Commerce throughout the
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          2  City and many other organizations and work on this

          3  issue, and we're going to continue to do that.

          4                 Since I'm testifying on technology in

          5  front of the Technology Committee, I think it's

          6  important to tell you about a new initiative that we

          7  are working with Seedco, and that's exploring e-

          8  commerce opportunities.

          9                 In response to the growing number of

         10  internet- based businesses in the community, our

         11  Upper Manhattan Business Solutions Center on 125th

         12  Street operated by Seedco will now offer classes on

         13  internet marketing and will start offering technical

         14  assistance relating to launching e- commerce

         15  websites.  In the Bronx, SBS is piloting internet-

         16  based workshops with plans to deploy curricular in

         17  all seven of our solution centers.

         18                 This is another area that I hear on a

         19  regular basis from small business owners that it is

         20  tougher to compete because of the e- commerce.  I

         21  think we play a role, and we can play even a greater

         22  role in helping those businesses that want to get

         23  even more competitive on the internet.

         24                 My final comments before we open it

         25  up for questions and discussions, is the ambitious
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          2  and great effort that David Margalit is leading, our

          3  Deputy Commissioner to my left, this whole notion of

          4  Business Express.

          5                 Mayor Bloomberg has made it clear to

          6  us that he would like to see a fundamental change in

          7  the way business does business with New York City.

          8  If you have to open up a restaurant in this town,

          9  you have to visit a dozen different agencies.  You

         10  probably have 50 different permits to work with.  In

         11  many cases, you have to go individually to Consumer

         12  Affairs, to the Health Department, to the Buildings

         13  Department, and many others.  We want to get this,

         14  and the goal is to get all of this information

         15  online and available for entrepreneurs, for existing

         16  business owners who are applying for license

         17  permits, learning about regulations.

         18                 This is an effort that working with

         19  the City Council we can make many of our small

         20  businesses to save them time, money and effort and

         21  aggravation, quite frankly.  We're at the start of

         22  it.  We've made some headway in terms of putting an

         23  inventory together of the steps that need to be

         24  taken when you open up a small business, but there's

         25  a lot more work to be done in that area.  In the
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          2  first quarter of 2008 we will add the functionality

          3  for retail entrepreneurs.  The goal by end of 2009

          4  is to have a robust, easy to use website in which

          5  business owners can transact most businesses with

          6  the City.

          7                 Getting back to this issue of mom and

          8  pop shops, this is not an easy one.  I sat recently

          9  with Councilman Yassky and a group of property

         10  owners and concerned citizens focused in downtown

         11  Brooklyn.  I think our agency is poised well to help

         12  in terms of marketing and promoting many of these

         13  retail corridors. I think we still have a lot more

         14  work to do in terms of coming up with creative

         15  solutions that could help many of these small

         16  businesses that have been a backbone of many of our

         17  communities and have made this City a special place

         18  to be.

         19                 I want to thank you for your

         20  attention on this, and I'm looking forward to, and I

         21  can speak for the Administration on this.  We want

         22  to work with you.  We want to work with you on

         23  solutions.  I wish, as I said opening up, that I had

         24  a magic bullet in terms of dealing with this.  I

         25  don't.  But we want to work with you.  We want to
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          2  hear the ideas and continue forward, so thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Okay, I have a

          4  couple of questions, but I know Council Member

          5  Koppell does, and I know you have the other hearing,

          6  so why don't you go ahead.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I just

          8  wanted to focus on one aspect that seems to me to

          9  offer some solutions.  Fortunately, I would say the

         10  area that I represent, the northwest Bronx, this is

         11  not a problem yet although it could become a

         12  problem.  We still have some vacancies, not a lot,

         13  and we have a good variety of small businesses.

         14  However, it could become a problem, but in Manhattan

         15  I know it is a big problem.

         16                 I want to bring to your attention

         17  although you may already know it, what's happened in

         18  Hong Kong, which is a very congested and highly

         19  populated area.  There, if you visit there, and I've

         20  been there a couple of times, the first three

         21  stories of almost every large building, large office

         22  building, are occupied by retail businesses.  They

         23  also have a unique thing where they have many of the

         24  second stories connected by bridges creating a

         25  situation where pedestrians can move around without
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          2  interfering with traffic, and that's a much longer

          3  term, or more difficult problem.

          4                 Nonetheless, if in building new

          5  buildings and even in renovating old buildings, we

          6  had zoning laws that permitted, indeed encouraged,

          7  second floor stores, that would open up, I think, a

          8  great opportunity.  As I say, we have at least the

          9  one example that I'm familiar with, which is Hong

         10  Kong, where it seems to work extremely well.  You

         11  have thousands and thousands, literally thousands of

         12  businesses on the first three floors, and there's no

         13  commercial office building that I can recall in Hong

         14  Kong that doesn't have stores on the first three

         15  stories, or at least most of them do.

         16                 So I wondered if you had looked at in

         17  terms of zoning, putting stores on the second floor

         18  in places like Manhattan, maybe downtown Brooklyn?

         19                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  You know, I was

         20  out of the City from 1997 to 2002.  I was in

         21  Charlotte, North Carolina working on these issues in

         22  terms of trying to bring and animate the ground

         23  floor of retails because one of the mistakes they

         24  made in Charlotte, as they did in Atlanta and a

         25  number of other cities, is they thought they were
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          2  being efficient by bridging all their buildings

          3  together with these overwalks.  What happened is

          4  they took this traffic off the street, and then they

          5  wondered why the retail on the ground floor did not

          6  work, because everyone was using what they called

          7  these overstreet malls.  It kept things inward.

          8  There's probably a lot of other rationale and

          9  reasons why they did that.

         10                 But what struck me was when I went

         11  back, and I'll use my old neighborhood as an

         12  example.  Union Square, when you started to see the

         13  second floors being creatively used for retail, some

         14  of the bank branches, Norfolk Bank is one of them

         15  that opened up on 17th Street just off Broadway.  I

         16  know Amanda Burden is interested in this issue.  I

         17  know she's been pushing this issue on 125th Street

         18  with a number of the banks, but you're right.  Our

         19  second floors, if you look at some of our most

         20  expensive malls, take Fulton Mall two miles away in

         21  Brooklyn.  The second floor of many of those

         22  buildings are used for banners of Nike or other

         23  national brands because at some point someone

         24  thought it was a wise idea to take out the stairway

         25  up to the second floor because there was no market.
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          2                 We've got to creatively think about

          3  getting some of this retail back and how to bring

          4  life and activity back onto the second floors of the

          5  retail.  Retailers generally don't like it because,

          6  you know, it's impulse shopping.  You see something

          7  in the window, and you walk in.  There's been a good

          8  deal of hesitation. The market is tight.  People

          9  want to be in places, and what you're now seeing,

         10  particularly in the concentrated areas, is more of

         11  an appetite to go to the upper floors.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you.  I

         13  think that second floor idea is a very strong one.

         14  I understand what you say about retailers not being

         15  interested, but it may be that you can kind of push

         16  the culture a little bit, and they're not interested

         17  because people aren't used to thinking about the

         18  second floors as a retail, but once people get

         19  interested in that, or get used to that, and Fulton

         20  Mall really would be a perfect opportunity for some

         21  kind of pilot effort.

         22                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  If you could

         23  allow the property owners to look at the second

         24  floor not this way but that way.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  So I think that
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          2   --

          3                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  If you could

          4  start looking at it horizontally, and this is

          5  something that we would have to creatively look at

          6  it.  You could go up to 149th Street in the Hub,

          7  Fulton Mall, a number of other places where the

          8  second floor has been taken out.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Is the 125th

         10  Street, is that rule in effect now?  Or is this in

         11  the planning stages?

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  I don't know the

         13  answer to that.  I've heard it discussed in

         14  meetings.  I don't know if it's been written into

         15  law.  I don't want to blow it.  There's a camera on

         16  me.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  You're a wise

         18  man.  Chair Brewer?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         20  much.  I guess my question, coming from a community

         21  that is gentrifine or gentrifried, and I always that

         22  unfortunately I think this lack of mom and pop may

         23  hit others, we leave like when a store leaves, that

         24  our heart is wrenched out.  It's to the point now, I

         25  think you can see by the large turnout and the huge
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          2  number of emails, which we also received, that there

          3  is tremendous interest in this issue.

          4                 I guess, my first question is maybe

          5  starting today can you sit down with City Planning

          6  and Finance?  Because one of the issues is, you have

          7  to think even broader, I think, than what you're

          8  thinking about to address some of these issues.  I

          9  think some of the people who testify today will say,

         10  and I wanted to ask you if you thought about this,

         11  why do some of these stores stay vacant for years?

         12  Is there some tax reason?

         13                 Secondly, I'm really impressed with

         14  the City Planning Commission's initiative.  I think

         15  working with City Council and Council Member Inez

         16  Dickens and certainly others, to come up with some

         17  solutions on 125th Street.  City Planning couldn't

         18  be here today, but I think they'll join us in the

         19  future because they are trying to look at it as a

         20  special district.

         21                 So my question to you is, can you

         22  look at areas in Council Member James' district, my

         23  district, Council Member Yassky's district, that

         24  would be special zoning districts to try to address.

         25    I believe this was done on Madison and 5th in the
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          2  past.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  I'd be happy to

          4   --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We're in a

          6  crisis, Commissioner.  We're really at a crisis.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  I hear you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  This is people's

          9   -- it's quality of life.  It's the heart and soul

         10  of the neighborhoods.  53 branches of a bank in one

         11  neighborhood.  That's insane.  So my question to you

         12  is, I think it's going to take a coordinated

         13  strategy with you, Commissioner Stark, Chair Burden

         14  and others, to come up with something creative for

         15  areas where this is going on.

         16  I'm just wondering your reaction to that.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  I'm happy to sit

         18  down with Amanda and Martha Stark to look at this

         19  and whether it's a zoning issue, whether it's making

         20  greater use of what Councilman Koppell talked about,

         21  second floor, and others.  The answer is yes.  I'd

         22  be happy to do that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I mean, it's

         24  crazy.  Obviously, on the technology front, I think

         25  you're doing a lot.  We could talk further about how

                                                            28

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  the site could do even more, but I think one of the

          3  issues would be for those who are in this, I call it

          4  this rent situation, that you are trying to think

          5  about some solutions. 125th Street really is a great

          6  initiative of everyone concerned, but you have a

          7  very viable business doing well, and then the rug

          8  comes --

          9                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  The lease comes

         10  up and --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  You can't do

         12  anything about it.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We got one in my

         15  neighborhood right now.  Just right next door to us.

         16    Nothing I can do, and we're not going to be able

         17  to accomplish anything unless we have some either

         18  zoning or tax policies that can address this issue.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  As I mentioned,

         20  I don't have an easy answer for that, but I'm

         21  willing to work with you, and what comes out of this

         22  hearing today in terms of the suggestions.

         23                 On the technology pieces, I think we

         24  owe you an update in terms of some of the

         25  initiatives that we have underway. I know you've

                                                            29

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  been a big supporter of ours.  You've been up to

          3  125th Street.  Tracie Abbott just joined us from

          4  Safe Horizons. Seedco has done a tremendous job

          5  working with us.  I think Business Express and the

          6  efforts that David is doing, coordinating with so

          7  many different agencies, will make a difference,

          8  will make a tremendous difference.  When you start

          9  looking at it, one of the fundamental changes that

         10  we'll be able to make in this Administration,

         11  building offers, some of the efforts of 311 and

         12  others.  So we probably should bring you up to speed

         13  on that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Just two things

         15  I would add. One is, I think it's going to be

         16  important to bring landlords into the conversation

         17  to understand what would actually affect their

         18  behavior and what could you that would have an

         19  impact on rental decisions?  Because I start with

         20  the assumption that a cell phone store, a cell phone

         21  company is going to pay more in rent than the

         22  neighborhood place.  Now maybe that's not true, but

         23  if it is, then we have to figure out what it is that

         24  would make a difference to a landlord.  I think they

         25  do have to be a part of that discussion. I say cell
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          2  phone because the 56 banks, did you say?  That's

          3  incredibly impressive.  I think we were in trouble.

          4  We have counted 24 cell phone stores within eight

          5  blocks of our district office.

          6                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  On Fulton Mall?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Yes.  A few of

          8  them is fine, but every one of them is a place that

          9  I think we'd be better off with a community oriented

         10   --

         11                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  There's a limit

         12  of power of persuasion so know that you have

         13  landlords who own their properties who, as you said,

         14  some of them are sitting on it and you wonder what

         15  is going on.  I just walked a district not too long

         16  ago in the Flat Iron district and counted eight

         17  buildings that were, for the most part, empty from

         18  the ground floor on up.  It was a single owner.  I'm

         19  just trying to wonder what is going on here.

         20  There's no zoning change that's going to convert it

         21  from commercial to residential.  It's a difficult

         22  one in terms of getting the diversity of retail as

         23  the housing market grows, and you hope that some of

         24  the landlords are enlightened that they're going to

         25  bring a service to that district that is going to be
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          2  not more of the same but something different and add

          3  it to the attraction of their building.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  That would be

          5  the ideal.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Yes, that would

          7  be ideal, Commissioner, but it doesn't happen like

          8  that.  It's my understanding that between the

          9  commercial broker, who has his or her needs, and the

         10  owner, they will continually pick the person and the

         11  retail who in their minds is going to pay the rent,

         12  and it's a chain store or a bank or the cell phone

         13  company, obviously chain stores.

         14                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  But some of them

         15  have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  But so few.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  Yes, I realize

         18  that, but some of them have, and that's something

         19  that you try to work with.  You do have in some

         20  cases property owners that do realize, and I think

         21  of --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We have

         23  wonderful ones, but I'm just saying that when you

         24  look at the overall picture, it's a carrot and

         25  stick, and we have to be the stick, and the City has
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          2  to be the stick, and we need to have the

          3  coordination to at least come up with tax or zoning

          4  proposals in these gentrifying areas.  In places

          5  like Council Member Koppell's district, you don't

          6  need it, or in other places.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  But we need a

          9  different solution for different communities.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  I want to work

         11  with you and zero in on some of these and look at

         12  other places that perhaps have used this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  Okay, thank you

         16  very much. Thanks for having me.  I look forward to

         17  it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you.  I

         19  look forward to this being a continuing

         20  conversation.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  I appreciate all

         22  you've done to help our agency.  You guys have been

         23  tremendous.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And we need a

         25  very fast time table on this collaboration and
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          2  coordination.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WALSH:  I'm happy to do

          4  it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you,

          8  Commissioner.  I'm eager to hear from, we have a lot

          9  of folks who have come out in the field, both

         10  businesses and neighborhood folks.  For the next

         11  panel we have Lee Grant, Vanessa Gruen of the

         12  Municipal Arts Society, William Ross of Halsted

         13  Realty and Karin Alexis of the Karin Alexis Store.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So come on up

         15  and join us right at the table if you can.  We're

         16  very honored to have Lee Grant here.  Some of you

         17  know that she's an award winning actress, producer

         18  and somebody who cares deeply about our

         19  neighborhood, so thank you very much, Ms. Grant, for

         20  being here today.

         21                 MS. GRANT:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Why don't you

         23  start, Ms. Grant, if you don't mind.  You can close

         24  that, yes.  That's fine.

         25                 MS. GRANT:  Chair Yassky and Council
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          2  Member Brewer and all the rest of the Council

          3  Members, I want to thank you so much for making us

          4  feel that there is a farm, that there is a place

          5  that we can come to because, as you know, there's a

          6  feeling of helplessness that comes with the death of

          7  a salesman.  And this is the kind of feeling that

          8  we've had walking around our neighborhoods.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Attention

         10  must be paid indeed, yes.

         11                 MS. GRANT:  Attention must be paid,

         12  indeed.  What I wanted to read to you was a letter

         13  that I wrote to the Times, which wasn't printed last

         14  week, in relation to an article in the Styles

         15  Section that a writer named John Kiffner (phonetic)

         16  had written about trying to live within four blocks

         17  of Zabar's.  So it was my response to that since he

         18  did mention stores closing although he was just a

         19  newcomer to the neighborhood, so he wasn't there the

         20  way we were, but let me read it to you.

         21                 Regarding John Kiffner's article in

         22  the Real Estate Section, Life with Zabar's at the

         23  Epicenter, I'm a born and raised Upper Westsider and

         24  now reside on 90th Street and West End Avenue. I

         25  can't describe how sad and wrong it's been for my
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          2  neighbors and me to see lifelong stores like Embassy

          3  Florist, 87 years in the same place.  Their rent was

          4  doubled to $30,000 a month.  A florist? You have to

          5  sell a lot of flowers for $30,000 a month.  When we

          6  talk about enlightened landlords, guys?  When we

          7  talk about -- I mean, it's an oxymoron, if you don't

          8  mind my saying so.  Morris Brothers, our sporting

          9  goods store that was there for how -- longer than

         10  Embassy?  50 at least.  I know that in my former

         11  marriages, I bought the camp clothes for my kids

         12  there.  It's gone, that whole half a block, victim

         13  to the same impossible rent hikes.

         14                 On 88th Street and Broadway we have

         15  three clothes stores, and I'm telling you it's like

         16  the Bronx is burning.  I don't know how long they'll

         17  keep it closed like that.  But Hot and Crusty moved

         18  up the block, fortunately, to some place half its

         19  size.  Bartley Fruits and Vegetables, where I've had

         20  a house charge with two Misses Kims, because it's

         21  like Smith and Jones.  You know, all the Koreans

         22  half are named Kim.  I've had a house charge there

         23  for over 20 years.  And a Malaysian restaurant, a

         24  really good one, the rent asked for these three

         25  stores is $130,000 a month for the three stores.
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          2                 I've been told that a chain drug

          3  store, Walgreen's, will be built in that place.  Now

          4  a chain drug store can pay $130,000 a month, I

          5  suppose, despite the fact that on 89th Street, a

          6  half a block up from what was torn down, what is

          7  Bronx is burning on 88th Street, is a half a block

          8  Dwayne Reed, a little cell phone store squeezed in

          9  between and an HSBC or whatever the hell.

         10                 So the whole block, half is the

         11  Dwayne Reed, half is the bank with this little cell

         12  store stuck in between.  Is that what our life is

         13  going to look like?  That whole block is taken over.

         14    Talk about your enlightened landlords.

         15                 We are choking on banks, cell phone

         16  stores and chain drug stores.  We've lost this year

         17  Murder, Inc., our mystery book store, which has been

         18  there for years, an adjoining book store on 93rd

         19  Street and Broadway, Judaica, an orthodox Jewish

         20  seller of religious items on 89th and Broadway is

         21  now threatened as well, and Mary Ann's Mexican

         22  Restaurant.  When Embassy was told that their rent

         23  was going up to $30,000, the real estate person told

         24  them they were looking to buy Mary Ann's as well, so

         25  that they could use that whole section, that block,
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          2  to put in something that really made money for them.

          3                 Liberty House, well, you know, a

          4  clothing store in our neighborhood for 39 years, is

          5  forced out of the neighborhood after their second

          6  move.  Read the sign in their windows as they say

          7  good- bye again.

          8                 A failed restaurant on 84th and

          9  Broadway is now home to just what we need, a huge

         10  Wachovia.  In addition, on 89th Street, three more

         11  stores, Bagel Basket, Nick's Pizza and KB Stores,

         12  all lost their leases so that another bank, this

         13  HSBS could take over that corner.  So forecast of

         14  things to come.

         15                 I don't know whether you've walked

         16  down Broadway in our neighborhood lately, but you

         17  can hardly make it for the baby carriages and the

         18  beautiful children.  A small card shop has filled

         19  the huge need for toys, as there were no toy stores

         20  after KB and other toy stores were forced out.  I

         21  have pictures of some of the stores.  These were our

         22  friends, these stores, and their owners, the way

         23  that Zaybar's was for this writer and for us.  These

         24  friends are being shut down by greed, leaving us

         25  feeling as helpless in our own neighborhood as we
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          2  feel in the face of our country's actions in larger

          3  more devastating wars.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

          5  much, Ms. Grant. Ms. Alexis, do you want to go next?

          6                 MS. ALEXIS:  Yes.  My name is Karin

          7  Alexis.  I design and manufacture original

          8  children's clothing still in New York.  I'm not

          9  overseas.  I do it here.  I may just add I think

         10  that perhaps you should change your term from mom

         11  and pop stores. I don't consider myself -- I am a

         12  mom.  I have a pop, but we are doing business, and

         13  we're doing it on a competitive level in New York

         14  City.  I sell all over the world, but I've been

         15  chased around New York for the last 20 years, which

         16  is when I opened my first store in 1987.  It's

         17  becoming unsustainable.

         18                 The rents I will just say again it's

         19  rent, rent, rent.  Gale has been wonderful, and may

         20  I just say we need big sticks, Gale.  This is not

         21  about enlightenment.  It's not about the kind

         22  hearted landlord.  I do not mind competing.  I've

         23  told Gale, I want to compete on a level playing

         24  field.  There is a mystery that I have been trying

         25  to find out and nobody is answering it. That is, I
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          2  believe that it is more beneficial for landlords to

          3  keep stores empty financially.  It's all about

          4  money.  This is not about kindness or not being able

          5  to find a tenant.  There is somebody who wants to

          6  open a business in New York City in every single

          7  location. There are entrepreneurs falling out of the

          8  walls.

          9                 So as I refer to it, for example,

         10  where the Wiz was, which is on the corner of 97th

         11  and Broadway, it has been vacant since I think 10

         12  years nearly now.  There must be somebody who wants

         13  to rent it.  My theory is that the landlord for some

         14  tax reason can peg a price on this saying the banks

         15  pay $400 a foot, and therefore this is worth $400 a

         16  foot, but I can't find anybody to rent it and

         17  therefore take it as a loss, which is more

         18  beneficial to them than to actually rent it.  It's a

         19  blight on the neighborhood, and it shouldn't be

         20  allowed.  If you find out what that tax loophole is

         21  that the landlords are exploiting, I believe you're

         22  going to see competition.

         23                 I don't mind competing.  Kathy at

         24  Liberty House and I compete every single day, and I

         25  have for over 20 years.  I would venture to guess
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          2  that we sell as much per square foot as the best

          3  malls in America, but it's getting to a tipping

          4  point.  It's getting to the point where it is

          5  absolutely not worth it to be in business.  I could

          6  make more money working at Barnes and Noble than I

          7  do working seven days a week doing what I love,

          8  doing what the people in the neighborhood love to

          9  come and shop for.

         10                 It's also changing the face of New

         11  York.  Tony Danza talked about it on his show.  He

         12  read one of my letters, the Second Avenue Deli's

         13  closing.  It goes on and on.

         14                 The bigger picture is, I believe,

         15  they say tourism is up in New York?  It will not be.

         16    People do not want to come from England to shop at

         17  711.  They do not want to come and visit New York

         18  City to eat at Applebee's.  Some neighborhoods maybe

         19  they want an Applebee's.  They want New York for

         20  what it is, or always was, which is a unique living,

         21  shopping, breathing experience.  I fear that it's

         22  getting really beyond the tipping point.  We now

         23  have seen two green grocers close, which we think

         24  are always going to make money.  We've seen Ann

         25  Taylor close, the Children's Gap close.  So now

                                                            41

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  we're seeing that even the chain stores don't feel

          3  it's profitable to pay these rents and stay in

          4  business.  When that happens, all of us who live

          5  here are going to be faced, instead of going to our

          6  local green grocer, we're going to be going to 711.

          7  And when that happens, I don't know if I want to

          8  live here anymore.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I'm going to ask

         10  you just to wrap up because I realize we're not

         11  going to be able to accommodate everybody.  Thank

         12  you for that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.  Mr.

         14  Ross, why don't you go ahead.  And then we've also

         15  been joined by Council Member James and Council

         16  Member DeBlasio.  Thank you.

         17                 MR. ROSS:  My name is Bill Ross.

         18  I've been a real estate broker in Brooklyn Heights

         19  and Cobble Hill for 25 years. I'm also President of

         20  the Montague Street Business Improvement District.

         21                 It's a tough situation.  I grew up in

         22  the neighborhood I work in.  I love the neighborhood

         23  that I live in. I've seen stores come and go.  I can

         24  tell you this.  I've been able to fight this

         25  individually on a small scale.  When my dry cleaner
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          2  in Cobble Hill was forced to leave because his lease

          3  expired, he was smart.  While his lease was below

          4  market, he saved up some money, and I helped him

          5  find a small building to buy, and his dry cleaner is

          6  open again in Cobble Hill.

          7                 When the Cobble Hill veterinarian was

          8  in trouble with losing his location, I helped him

          9  find a place to buy, and he'll be there forever.

         10                 When a large vacancy occurred on

         11  Montague Street, the landlord would have loved a

         12  bank.  They're triple A tenants. He wanted a triple

         13  A tenant.  I convinced him to take instead a green

         14  grocer, and I forgave my real estate commission for

         15  one year as added security for that tenant.  So it's

         16  done on a small scale level, but I think if you

         17  start talking about a really big stick, it could get

         18  very, very complicated.

         19                 I agree that mom and pop stores are

         20  not necessarily the right phrase.  There are moms

         21  without pops.  There are new stores that come into

         22  neighborhoods that are great for the neighborhood,

         23  not someone who's been there for 30 years.  The only

         24  thing I can say is that on Montague Street the mom

         25  and pop stores that still exist are basically
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          2  existing in buildings that the store proprietor

          3  owns, and that's how they've been able to stay

          4  there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

          6  much.  I wish there were thousands of you, sir.  Go

          7  ahead, Vanessa Gruen from Municipal Art Society.

          8                 MS. GRUEN:  Good afternoon.  My name

          9  is Vanessa Gruen, and I'm the Director of Special

         10  Projects at the Municipal Art Society.  The

         11  Municipal Art Society is a not- for- profit civic

         12  organization whose mission is to promote a more

         13  liveable New York City, and what makes a city more

         14  liveable than unique neighborhoods full of diverse

         15  food stores, specialty clothing stores, hardware

         16  stores, all locally owned and operated.

         17  Neighborhoods where it is always a new and exciting

         18  experience to walk and take part in the ever

         19  changing retail life that thrives and creates a

         20  sense of energy that is unique to New York.

         21                 All of the above is changing on every

         22  street corner in Manhattan and Brooklyn, and I

         23  assume in the Bronx and Queens also, but I don't

         24  think it's as threatened yet, where local stores

         25  disappear and are replaced by chain drug stores and
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          2  mega banks.  As the City transforms right under our

          3  noses, it's a wake up call to all of us.  Just as

          4  the destruction of Penn Station was what was needed

          5  for the City to establish the Landmarks Preservation

          6  Commission, the time has now come for us to ask the

          7  City to take steps that will stop the erosion of our

          8  City and the neighborhoods that we know and love.

          9                 We are pleased that you are holding a

         10  hearing on this topic, and we assume that the

         11  purpose of today's hearing is to try to come up with

         12  solutions that will help us save the small retailer

         13  and preserve neighborhoods.  I'm not prepared to

         14  outline what should be done, but I do suggest that

         15  the Council call for an in- depth study of the

         16  problem with a view toward to providing long- term

         17  solutions.

         18                 The City in the past has taken

         19  aggressive zoning steps to prevent neighborhoods

         20  from losing their soul.  Under Mayor Lindsey, the

         21  Special Little Italy District was established, and

         22  the Fifth Avenue Special District was created to

         23  prevent Fifth Avenue from being turned into an

         24  avenue of banks and airline ticket offices.

         25                 When the Upper East Side was declared
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          2  an historic district, the designation reports

          3  specified that the storefront openings be defined by

          4  the original or existing piers.  This way, the

          5  storefront opening could not be enlarged or reduced

          6  in size, neither could the floor area of the store

          7  be enlarged or combined, thus effectively ruling out

          8  larger chain stores or banks.

          9                 Other cities have also taken action.

         10  Cities have sought to regulate formula businesses,

         11  which are defined as establishments that are

         12  required by contract to adopt standardized services,

         13  methods of operation, decor, architecture or other

         14  features identical to businesses located in other

         15  communities. These laws do not prevent a chain store

         16  from coming in, but they do require that the

         17  incoming chain not look or operate like any other

         18  branch in the country.  This has proved to be a

         19  deterrent to chains, which generally refuse to veer

         20  from their standardized cookie cutter approach.

         21                 In San Francisco, they have chosen to

         22  take a neighborhood- by- neighborhood approach.

         23  Under the law, whenever a chain store applies to

         24  open, residents in the surrounding neighborhood are

         25  notified.  They have the option of requesting a
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          2  public hearing and subjecting the applicant to

          3  additional scrutiny. The ordinance allows for

          4  varying degrees of regulation in each neighborhood.

          5  Some neighborhoods have banned chain stores

          6  entirely.  These ordinances have been upheld by the

          7  courts.

          8                 Adam Gopnik, the well known writer

          9  for the New Yorker, wrote in an article this spring,

         10  what we want the City to look like in 2030 will

         11  depend on the rules we make now.  Aggressive

         12  policies for housing, especially low income housing,

         13  a reasonable process of review to help neighborhoods

         14  remain neighborhoods, a less passive welcome to

         15  every form of monster store, more support for

         16  tenants and small merchants, all of these things are

         17  worth arguing for and legislating for too.  Thank

         18  you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you.

         20  First, I just want to note for the record that

         21  Commissioner Walsh is still here in the room, and I

         22  really appreciate your staying to hear the testimony

         23  from the neighborhood folks.  That's really

         24  commendable, so thank you for that.  I know we have

         25  a lot of people, so we'll just limit the questions.
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          2                 I guess, Ms. Gruen, first of all,

          3  where did you say they do this where a chain store

          4  has to look different from the other people in the

          5  same chain?

          6                 MS. GRUEN:  That is being done in a

          7  lot of different cities and in San Francisco too.  I

          8  mean, San Francisco has really very aggressive laws

          9  now trying to preserve their neighborhoods and the

         10  look of their neighborhoods.  It's done by a sort of

         11  a neighborhood- by- neighborhood basis.  So it's

         12  really interesting. The research we've done on this

         13  is we could share some of that with you.  It's

         14  really very interesting things that are happening.

         15  I think a lot of cities are waking up to the fact

         16  that there is a problem, and they are taking steps.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Do you think

         18  that would work here in New York City?

         19                 MS. GRUEN:  I think absolutely.  I

         20  think we're at the point now where we need to have

         21  some kind of aggressive legislation, and I think we

         22  can maybe do it through tax abatements. We can do it

         23  through zoning, but I think we should study what's

         24  available, and we should study what would work here

         25  in New York City.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Has the

          3  Municipal Art Society put forward a kind of set of

          4  proposals?

          5                 MS. GRUEN:  We are, as I told your

          6  assistant, we are just now setting out to study this

          7  whole issue.  We're going to be doing a Jane Jacobs

          8  Exhibit at the end of the month, and we're going to

          9  have a lot of public programming just on this issue,

         10  on how do you preserve your neighborhoods.  How do

         11  you preserve the character of your neighborhoods?  I

         12  think that we're going to have a lot of proposals

         13  that will be coming out of these programs, and also

         14  we will be doing a CLE course on this issue in

         15  November, and I think we'll get a lot of information

         16  from that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Well, what I

         18  would say, and I know we're time pressed, but you

         19  know, my hope is that you can somewhat speedily put

         20  together a real serious set of proposals and then

         21  Chair Brewer and I can take those to the folks in

         22  the Administration who are interested in this, and

         23  start really looking at them hard.  But I'm really

         24  encouraged to hear that you think that there are

         25  some concrete ideas out there.
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          2                 MS. GRUEN:  Absolutely.  There are

          3  things that can be done.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  That are

          5  potentially implementable.

          6                 MS. GRUEN:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you all

          8  very much, and certainly we will work with the

          9  Commissioner on the different agencies, including

         10  Technology, of course, but all the other agencies,

         11  MAS, and thank you for your time today.

         12                 MS. GRUEN:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  The next panel

         14  is Rachel Liebowitz, Selma Jackson, Ellen Hamilton,

         15  Catherine Bohne and Melissa Ennen.  Who would like

         16  to start?  Go right ahead.  Somebody just introduce

         17  yourself and start talking.

         18                 MS. BOHNE:  My name is Catherine

         19  Bohne, and I own the Community Book Store in Park

         20  Slope, Brooklyn, which I took over the Community

         21  Book Store six years ago.  It's been there since

         22  1971, making it one of the oldest now surviving

         23  independent book stores in New York City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  While you're at

         25  it, just thinking now.  It's a real pleasure to meet
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          2  you.  We've never met, but I've been in your book

          3  store many times, and I think in fact, celebrated

          4  Harry Potter Eve there.  So it is a pleasure to meet

          5  you.

          6                 MS. BOHNE:  Thank you.  Just really

          7  briefly, the kind of store that my store is.  I hope

          8  I can get through these stories without crying.  I'm

          9  sitting at my desk, a teacher comes up and says,

         10  I've just come from the hospital visiting a student

         11  who's in the hospital for the third time because

         12  he's being beaten up by his family, I don't know who

         13  to talk to.  I can say I know exactly who you need

         14  to talk to.  She wrote a book about it.  She lives

         15  around the corner.  Here's her phone number.  The

         16  next day the teachers are taking care of their

         17  student.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  That is a

         19  wonderful story. Keep going, but that is a great

         20  story.

         21                 MS. BOHNE:  It happens every day.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  That is a great

         23  story.

         24                 MS. BOHNE:  I just found out a long

         25  term neighborhood resident who has no savings, no
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          2  medical insurance and is in tax trouble so can't

          3  actually afford to have income, has been diagnosed

          4  with interstitial lung disease, and to my own

          5  amazement, the kids who work in my store bring him

          6  his groceries, they drive him to the hospital, they

          7  sit with him, they get his laundry, and they keep

          8  him company.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Is your store

         10  okay, though, in terms of rent?  That's what we all

         11  want to know.

         12                 MS. BOHNE:  Last January I actually

         13  sent out an e mail saying that's it, it's up, we

         14  can't do it anymore.  My apartment was in

         15  foreclosure.  My bank limit was being called.  My

         16  widowed mother's house was going to be seized as

         17  collateral by the bank.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  But you're there

         19  for his wonderful children's event, Harry Potter.

         20                 MS. BOWEN:  Well, that's what I told.

         21    That's what we love.  That's what we do.  So I

         22  stood there in the book store basically in this

         23  state, which I'm not always in actually, and one by

         24  one people came in and said, my god, what's the

         25  matter?  What's wrong?  And I started to tell them,
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          2  and they looked at me, and every single person said,

          3  are you crazy?  You've looked after this

          4  neighborhood for years.  Now we'll look after you.

          5  They rallied around.  I ended up a 20 person

          6  advisory board, self- appointed of amazing lawyers,

          7  bankers, people who know how to talk to things. They

          8  re- negotiated the bank loan.  We had some people

          9  come forward who offered to do private investments,

         10  which completely basically hauled us out of the

         11  fire, and it looks like we're on the road to being

         12  all right.

         13                 But the two things which I got from

         14  these people, which, as a small owner I wouldn't

         15  have had time to go out and find, didn't know, we

         16  needed money and we needed advice.  Our rent is what

         17  it is, unfortunately.  It's costing, god, it's not

         18  $30,000, but it's in line if not actually maybe and

         19  possibly a little lower than what's standard for

         20  Park Slope, which is one of those places. But I

         21  would just throw that in there that I am here

         22  because people stepped forward and provided this

         23  advice that was invaluable.

         24                 The problems with the business

         25  weren't that hard to fix.  It just needed someone
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          2  who knew how to fix them and someone who was willing

          3  to put in a little bit of extra money.  Community

          4  Book Store.  Thank you.  And I could talk a lot more

          5  about it, but I won't take any more time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Well, I think we

          7  should hear from the rest of the panel, but I know

          8  that store has survived a large chain book store,

          9  which is not a bad thing, but opening a few blocks

         10  away, so it's kind of a living example that it can

         11  be done with a lot of effort and a lot of grit.

         12                 MS. BOHNE:  Thank you.  If I could

         13  just throw out one thing that I know has been

         14  bandied around in the neighborhood a little bit,

         15  which is we are facing the whole Atlantic Yards

         16  development.  Our understanding that one of the

         17  things that seems particularly unfair about it is

         18  that there are these large subsidies that are

         19  provided and at least some of them, which are for

         20  apparently if you put in a chain store, you are

         21  creating jobs, and for each job there is like tens

         22  and thousands of dollars of subsidies that are going

         23  to wealthy developers.

         24                 We actually have been looking into

         25  because we do do so much do- gooding, which we don't
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          2  get any more for, nor do we expect to, nor do we

          3  want to.  We do it because it's our neighborhood and

          4  we love people.  But we've been actually looking

          5  into sort of non- profit since it's like we don't

          6  seem to make much. I know that the legal definition

          7  of a charity is somebody who takes, one of the

          8  things that defines you is that somebody who takes

          9  on some of the work of the government.  Therefore,

         10  you have a right to these things.  So putting those

         11  ideas together in my mind it seems to me that if

         12  there was some way of quantifying when a place of

         13  business is taking care of the neighborhood, if that

         14  couldn't be recognized in some way with financial

         15  help, which is what we all need.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  That's a nice

         17  contrast you're making with what some businesses do

         18  get help and some don't.  Thank you.

         19                 MS. LIEBOWITZ:  Hello.  My name is

         20  Rachel Liebowitz. I've had two shops on Atlantic

         21  Avenue.  I've actually had three at one time for 33

         22  years.  I'm going into my 34th year next month, and

         23  there's a lot of problems, rent being the major one.

         24    I'd like to say to the real estate agent who was

         25  pretty glib about buying the building, that we
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          2  looked into it, and we were priced out at least 10

          3  years ago from if you didn't have a million dollars

          4  in the bank, to spend so that it would at least

          5  cover the expenses.

          6                 What I've come to talk about is the 4

          7  to 7 parking restriction, which is caused by the

          8  City of New York.  They have no respect for small

          9  businesses on Atlantic Avenue.  DOT, we've been at

         10  meetings at 100 times.  Robert Moses would be proud.

         11    They want to speed the traffic.  They've said it

         12  to our faces.  The traffic flow speeding down

         13  Atlantic Avenue, which is dangerous, is much more

         14  important than all of our small shops, than the

         15  restaurants, than the people who want to do business

         16  in the family hour.

         17                 I moved my main shop from the south

         18  side of the street where the restriction is, to the

         19  north side, 16 years ago because of the problem.  We

         20  are tired of butting our heads against the wall.

         21  DOT could definitely do something about this.  I'm

         22  there six days a week for about nine hours a day,

         23  and I would say that that 4 to 7 restriction, it's

         24  blocked at least 80 percent of the time by DOT,  by

         25  a tow truck, by somebody, the police, whatever. It's
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          2  not actually working.  It's a moneymaker, and if I

          3  had an hour to talk about it, I would tell you all

          4  the other ways that the City of New York smacks and

          5  saps and kills small businesses.  We have no loading

          6  zones.  They have no respect for us.  You get

          7  tickets if you're loading and unloading furniture,

          8  which you're allowed to do. I know I have gone out.

          9  I actually printed up the law saying that you're

         10  allowed to load and unload.  I've had delivery

         11  services.  I do a lot of internet business, which is

         12  the only reason I'm still in business, that tell me

         13  that they absolutely wouldn't pick up from my south

         14  side workshop, which is where I keep things, because

         15  they know they'll get a ticket.

         16                 This is problem that you on the City

         17  Council could absolutely do something about.  Have

         18  some respect for small businesses, not for moving

         19  the traffic from Manhattan to Queens and Long

         20  Island.  We have a right.  We pay taxes, and this

         21  has not been addressed.  It's 20 year ongoing

         22  problem.  Thank you.

         23                 MS. HAMILTON:  Hello.  My name is

         24  Ellen Hamilton. I have a storefront business in

         25  historic Brooklyn Heights, and I've been looking to
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          2  expand my business to a retail store, ideally on one

          3  of our main shopping streets like Montague Street,

          4  which still remains in the historic district, and

          5  have been deeply frustrated that my business, while

          6  it is extremely well supported by the residents and

          7  your constituents, they've been very good to me.

          8  But I still can't compete no matter how well I do

          9  for my business with Verizon, banks, 15 real estate

         10  offices, and in many ways passive businesses, which

         11  bring nothing to the quality of life and to the

         12  residents and not transient people in Brooklyn

         13  Heights.

         14                 I was lucky enough when I first

         15  renovated my business seven years ago, my storefront

         16  on Brooklyn Heights, the Brooklyn Heights

         17  Association, awarded me a most improved streetscape

         18  award.  There's no question that anywhere I go in

         19  anything I do it's going to completely change the

         20  block.  I get there, I promise you I will change

         21  everything.  But I can't get to first base.  I just

         22  can't get there.

         23                 So I'm registering as my frustration,

         24  and I would say probably my clients' frustration,

         25  people who would support me, who would help my
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          2  business grow to the next point.  I know that they

          3  would love to see me have a large home furnishings

          4  store, which is a particular type of business that

          5  before I want to get to, before Pottery and Barn

          6  does.  I got my hands tied behind my back.  It's

          7  really frustrating.  Thank you.

          8                 MS. JACKSON:  Hi, My name is Selma

          9  Jackson, and I'm the owner of 4W Circle.  It's an

         10  arts incubator in Fort Greene, and I've been there

         11  for 16 years, and I just last year saw two

         12  businesses, one 22 years and one 30 plus years,

         13  evicted.  The landlord renovated and put in new

         14  businesses, so they were gone from the community.

         15  This year the Seven Corners Hardware Store, after 20

         16  years, was closed because the rent was increased to

         17  $7,000 a month.  While in comparison to 30, it isn't

         18  the same, nevertheless, these are rents that are now

         19  people are asking $5,000 or more a month for rent in

         20  a neighborhood community, and that makes it

         21  difficult.

         22                 My landlord offered to sell the

         23  property four different times over the last 16

         24  years, and each time it's been priced in

         25  anticipation of what's to come, namely the Atlantic
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          2  Yards right now.  And it doesn't have anything to do

          3  with -- and then he takes it off the market, or I

          4  get sometimes when it's time to renew, you know, I

          5  could really get more money if I brought a bank in

          6  or something like that.  So you're constantly under

          7  the gun in this space.  In the time that I've been

          8  there my rent has increased more than double what I

          9  started out with.

         10                 In terms of the developers, there are

         11  two things that have concerned me over the years.

         12  That is when the first phase of Atlantic Center came

         13  in, there was a regional plan association, I think

         14  was the consultant group.  They supposedly did a

         15  study on commercial corridors, and Fort Greene was

         16  not included. When I asked, it was, well, frankly,

         17  we didn't even think about you.  So in the whole

         18  concept of bringing in new business, I mean, they

         19  don't even think about the locals that are already

         20  there that have made the neighborhood what it is.

         21                 Then the other aspect of that was

         22  that they didn't feel that the goods that we sold

         23  were relevant or in comparison to those that they

         24  were wanting to bring in.  So it's like you really

         25  don't exist, and that was an affront.
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          2                 I agree with the young lady from

          3  Community Book Store.  We provide a service as well

          4  as being there as good neighbors.  In 2000, after I

          5  had been there for ten years, the Sanitation

          6  Department all of a sudden decided that the

          7  neighborhood had changed and so therefore now they

          8  were going to give tickets for dirty sidewalks and

          9  insist that we have garbage pick up services.  It

         10  got so bad, our merchants association insisted on

         11  having a meeting with them because they were

         12  blitzing us with tickets.  And really beyond, you

         13  know, like you saw a piece of paper and you got a

         14  ticket.  It was really bad.

         15                 Then the other thing that I wanted to

         16  bring out is that yes, it's the rents and some

         17  different agency issues.  But another challenge that

         18  I've been confronted with is Con Edison.  I know the

         19  City doesn't regulate that, but it's a state

         20  regulated agency.  Once I had air conditioning, I

         21  was transferred from an EL1 category to an EL9

         22  category.  Now they only have to justify making that

         23  change after two months.  I, as the merchant

         24  consumer, have to demonstrate 11 consecutive months

         25  of lowered usage for it to get reclassified.  Now
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          2  there are only 12 months in a year, so how can I do

          3  that?

          4                 Finally, the landlord and also the

          5  surrounding developments get subsidies.  My landlord

          6  had a J51, so how does that translate into benefits

          7  to the tenants?  What I would suggest, it's just one

          8  thing, especially for neighborhoods in mixed use

          9  real estate, is there some way, especially if

         10  there's no turn and change in the landlord

         11  ownership, that there could be some caps on the

         12  maximum rent in a mixed use real estate.  That's

         13  what I wanted to say.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         15  much.  Next.

         16                 MS. ENNEN:  Hi, my name is Melissa

         17  Ennen.  I'm a despised landlord.  I own a building

         18  on Atlantic Avenue, 388 Atlantic Avenue.  I came to

         19  New York 25 years ago.  I bought this building 12

         20  years ago, and I've always had the feeling that --

         21  I'm originally from Cleveland, as is Bruce Ratner,

         22  and I've always had the feeling that it's so unfair

         23  that people from Cleveland like George Steinbrenner

         24  and Bruce Ratner get such hand holding by the City,

         25  whereas rinky dink little me gets harassed
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          2  constantly.  All of the things that everybody has

          3  already mentioned, I used to be an owner occupied

          4  business, and I had eventually to give it up.  Now I

          5  rent the space.

          6                 The reason I'm here today is because

          7  in January I got this notice from the City that they

          8  had re- assessed my building, and my real estate

          9  taxes went from $26,000 a year to $84,000.  I

         10  appealed it, and I lost.  The method they used to

         11  calculate my income was they re- assessed my

         12  building using quote, the income approach.  They

         13  figured that I was charging way too little rent.  I

         14  had three non- profits on my third floor that I

         15  charged a very low rent to because they were doing

         16  exactly what you were you were saying.  They were

         17  good non- profits, so I charged them less.  My first

         18  floor, the City told me I needed to double the rent

         19  on them.  They told me exactly what rent I should

         20  pay.  They told me per square foot what I needed to

         21  charge.  I said there's no way.  Where do you get

         22  these numbers?  I am there.  I know what the supply

         23  and demand is.  My tenants have been there for quite

         24  some time.  I've lost two.  I've lost my third floor

         25  tenant and my first floor tenant, not because I
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          2  raised the rent but because I have that clause in my

          3  lease, thank God.  I didn't even know what I meant

          4  when the lawyer put it in there about if I get an

          5  increase in my real estate tax, the tenant has to be

          6  paid their per square foot share.  It turns out that

          7  that would have been half of their rent, their

          8  increase in the real estate tax.  That's not me

          9  raising their rent.  That's the City raising the

         10  real estate tax.

         11                 So I used to think it was just small

         12  businesses versus these big developers, and I

         13  thought the gentrification occurred because big

         14  developers came in and they did all this, and

         15  landlords were greedy, and they just wanted to raise

         16  the rents as much as they could.  There's a lot of

         17  truth to that, but there's also a role that the City

         18  plays.  The City is playing a very big role in

         19  screwing up my neighborhood right now by trying to

         20  get landlords to triple their rents.

         21                 Another thing, from the point of your

         22  landlord, when my tenants had to leave, I went to

         23  these big companies that do real estate brokerage

         24  and asked them, I said, you know, I told them about

         25  my real estate tax thing.  I said, oh, my God, is
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          2  everybody else getting this rent?  You've got to be

          3  kidding.  They handed out, this is just an example,

          4  Massey Knakal handed out this thing to businesses

          5  which showed a map at what they estimated people

          6  were paying in rent by block in the greater Boerum

          7  Hill, Carroll Gardens, Cobble Hill, Brooklyn Heights

          8  neighborhoods.

          9                 Now I went around and did my own

         10  little questionnaire, and I think a lot of this is

         11  baloney, but when people see that everybody puts out

         12  fancy color coated charts like this, they think that

         13  everybody is paying these huge rents, and the City

         14  can turn around to me and say, Melissa, you've got

         15  to charge $50 a square foot because everybody is

         16  getting it.  Well, I've only found one in the whole

         17  neighborhood who's paying anywhere that.

         18                 So this whole thing is based on a lot

         19  of puff, you know, like he says you're paying that,

         20  they say you're paying that. So landlords start

         21  asking it because they have to because they have to

         22  pay the real estate tax.  I think it's a lot more

         23  complicated than just greedy landlords trying to

         24  raise the rent.  I think that for me I have not

         25  raised the rent.  My tenants now are going to have
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          2  to share a third of it, and I'm fighting it.  I'm

          3  going to fight it again.  I'm going to fight it next

          4  year, and if any more landlords on the block have

          5  this problem, then maybe there will be more than

          6  just me.

          7                 But it would be good if the City, I

          8  mean, the idea of easing it.  It's used to be up

          9  there that you're here to ease our burden.  I would

         10  say just leave us alone.  Just leave us alone. Stop

         11  giving us tickets.  Stop giving us tickets for the

         12  garbage and the traffic and whacking us with these

         13  real estate taxes, and that would be fine.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         15  much.  I know that, as Council Member Yassky

         16  indicated, the Commissioner is still here, and I

         17  think one of our earlier suggestions was that

         18  Finance, certainly DOT, DOITT, Small Business, City

         19  Planning, everyone sit down together because to do

         20  the kind of work that you just listed, and I want to

         21  thank you all.

         22                 I just have one quick question.  I

         23  know one of you mentioned that you use the internet,

         24  and it does assist your business.  Does anybody else

         25  use it, and does it assist, and do you need more
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          2  support on the technology front?

          3                 MS. BOHNE:  If I can be totally

          4  honest.  The amount of time that I spend going, dear

          5  God if I could just ask somebody who's a human being

          6  this very direct question, and in developing our own

          7  website we actually hopefully putting the same thing

          8  on, never mind if you don't want to hunt around or

          9  find anything or look this up or whatever, like you

         10  just ask a question.  Like a send a question.  A

         11  human being will read it, they'll respond.  So

         12  that's like a middle ground, but like some much time

         13  inefficiently wasted where you have to troll through

         14  screen after screen after screen, and you know you

         15  found it a week ago, and it took you three hours,

         16  but now you're going to have to do it all over again

         17  because somehow.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Well, that's

         19  helpful.  Thank you.  Anybody else?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So this is the

         21  anti- Ratner panel, which I love obviously.

         22  Obviously, far City Ratner is causing everyone

         23  chagrin, and well, all of you know my position with

         24  regards to that.  Market forces, unfortunately, are

         25  having unintended and intended adverse consequences.
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          2    It basically is, I guess that's how one defines

          3  gentrification.  It's having a major impact on small

          4  businesses, which is changing the character of the

          5  Borough of Brooklyn, the soul of Brooklyn.

          6                 So it disturbs me greatly, and in

          7  fact, I have written a letter to the Attorney

          8  General to look into the practices of Corcoran,

          9  Massey Knakal, if that's how you pronounce it, and

         10  others, with respect to this whole real estate and

         11  how basically they determine the terms in the

         12  Borough of Brooklyn, and as a result of them

         13  determining the terms, they're supposed to be the

         14  authority on the subject matter.  It is changing our

         15  borough ethnically.  The income mix all across the

         16  City, but particularly in the borough that I love,

         17  and someone has got to look into this. I'm going to

         18  continue to press this issue and press this body to

         19  look into those practices, which I believe are

         20  illegal.

         21                 Let me also say to Selma, Ms.

         22  Jackson.  Ms. Jackson, Fort Greene has changed, and

         23  again, these real estate brokers have a lot to do

         24  with it and market forces and, of course, Atlantic

         25  Yards, everyone is scared about the impact of
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          2  Atlantic Yards to small businesses, as well as I.

          3  The idea that these major chains are coming into our

          4  community and displacing all of you, we have got to

          5  stand together and although the agency heads, it

          6  would be great that they're here, but the Mayor of

          7  the City of New York and the Governor of the State

          8  of New York really has to address this issue.

          9                 The fact that we have to really look

         10  at real estate and how we assess real estate values

         11  in the City of New York.  We have to look at J51

         12  reforms.  We have to provide you with public

         13  subsidies and public benefits, all of you, because

         14  most of you employ the vast majority of residents of

         15  the City of New York, and you are the backbone of

         16  our City and of our great borough.  We really need

         17  to stand behind you and stand up for you and talk

         18  about this issue.  It's having a major, major

         19  impact, and I don't want to live in a city where

         20  every corridor is going to have a Star Bucks and all

         21  these other major chains.  I'd rather go to

         22  Connecticut Muffin and to 4W Circle and to the

         23  businesses on Flatbush Avenue. You were there when I

         24  went on 7th Avenue.  You were there when I once

         25  lived in Park Slope, and when I walk on 7th Avenue
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          2  when Council Member DeBlasio allows me to walk into

          3  his neighborhood now, I come by and patronize you

          4  and I want to continue to patronize you on Park

          5  Slope and Atlantic Avenue.  I thank you all for all

          6  that you do in our borough, and I'm going to lend my

          7  voice to your support.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I just want to

          9  thank you.  As you're getting up, I just want to

         10  thank all five of you for not just coming here and

         11  giving of your time.  I know how busy you are, but

         12  for really sticking it out.  You're a boon to the

         13  neighborhoods you're in, so thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Our next panel

         15  is Maisha Morales, Gerald Adams, Laine Romero-

         16  Alston, and Paula Crespo. Also, Rachael Dubin.  Once

         17  you're settled, whoever would like to start, it's

         18  fine.  Why don't you go ahead.  Introduce yourself,

         19  and thank you for joining us here today.

         20                 MS. MORALES:  First off, I'd like to

         21  read a testimony for a merchant who was unable to

         22  make it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Introduce

         24  yourself.

         25                 MS. MORALES:  My name is Maisha
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          2  Morales.  I'm the owner of Gallery Religious

          3  Supplies at the Albee Square Mall.  I'm first going

          4  to read a testimony of Ebrima Camara from Gamdel

          5  Store on Willoughby Street.

          6                 All the stores on Willoughby Street

          7  and Bridge Street have to move out in a short time

          8  with no relocation.  People have nothing.  No one

          9  has offered any help or plans.  People decided to

         10  come to City Hall to show the City of New York that

         11  we have a problem.  We are now asking you to do

         12  something.  We need help for small business people,

         13  and again, this is from Gamdel Store.

         14                 I'm the owner of Gallery Religious

         15  Supplies located at the Albee Square Mall.  Gallery

         16  Religious Supplies has been in Albee Square Mall for

         17  almost 22 years now in which seven of those years

         18  I've owned the business.  Thor Equities was our

         19  previous landlord.  During this time, Thor refused

         20  to issue long- term leases to the majority of the

         21  tenants.  They did promise that after remodeling of

         22  the mall, they would sit with tenants and issue

         23  leases.  They obviously lied.  They continued

         24  renting out spaces to small businesses promising

         25  that the mall was still going to be there.  Thor
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          2  Equities, Joseph Sitt, then sold the mall for $125

          3  million to Albee Square Development, Acadia Realty.

          4                 Before the deal went through, Albee

          5  Square Development promised at a public hearing a

          6  few months back that when they purchased the mall,

          7  they would have a meeting with the tenants and help

          8  with relocation, financial assistance, and once the

          9  building was complete, they would give us the

         10  opportunity to come back.  Of course, they lied

         11  also.  Instead, we received eviction notices.  Some

         12  of us received three day, some of us nine day

         13  eviction notices the following day.

         14                 There are dozens of tenants who are

         15  now displaced. Some like myself were able to find

         16  locations, but now we have to struggle with the

         17  outrageous rent increases.  Also, the property taxes

         18  that we have to pay now.

         19                 I myself am in close to $100,000 debt

         20  due to this whole development downtown Brooklyn,

         21  whereas two months ago I was debt- free.  There are

         22  also others who completely lost everything, other

         23  merchants in the mall and now are unemployed.  They

         24  have nowhere to go.

         25                 I'm not asking for a charity hand
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          2  out.  I'm asking for the City to give some money for

          3  relocation to displaced small businesses being that

          4  this is all due to the City re- zoning. Financial

          5  assistance is rightfully due to the displaced small

          6  business owners of downtown Brooklyn.  If you are

          7  able to give away millions of dollars to the very

          8  wealthy development companies, you should be liable

          9  to the small businesses of downtown Brooklyn.

         10                 Something else I wanted to mention.

         11  At one of the previous public hearings a few months

         12  ago, someone had stated that downtown Brooklyn

         13  attracted undesirables to the shopping strip.  I

         14  can't recall if it was a city agency or the

         15  developer itself who stated this comment, but as a

         16  Latina woman, I was appalled by this. This is

         17  obviously a racist statement.  If you look at the

         18  majority of the shoppers downtown Brooklyn, they're

         19  African American, West Indian, and Hispanics.  We're

         20  the ones who have supported the strip of downtown

         21  Brooklyn, so for this comment to be stated

         22  undesirables, it's a racist comment, and I feel that

         23  the City should be held accountable.  This is just a

         24  big chaos going on downtown Brooklyn.  Again, maybe

         25  there is some minutes we can trace back, but it was
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          2  one of the City agencies or the development company.

          3    It was said, and this is not right.

          4                 As for my City Council Members, I've

          5  tried reaching out to you guys numerous times, and

          6  I've received no help.  A few of the tenants have

          7  tried reaching out to you guys.  If we did get a few

          8  returned calls, they didn't get us anywhere.  I'm

          9  asking you please not to forget the people who

         10  helped get you into office. I'm asking for help,

         11  please.  I can honestly say I contacted Mr.

         12  Assemblyman Hakeem Jeffries about a week or so ago,

         13  and he has been communicating with me, and trying to

         14  help me.  I want to thank him for that.  I'm asking

         15  again please help us.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         17  much.  Next.

         18                 MS. CRESPO:  Hello.  Thank you for

         19  the opportunity to provide this testimony today.  My

         20  name is Paula Crespo, and I'm a community planner

         21  with the Pratt Center for Community Development.

         22  We're a planning and policy organization that works

         23  for a more just, equitable and sustainable City for

         24  all New Yorkers by helping communities to plan for

         25  and realize their futures.  So far there's been a
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          2  lot of discussion about secondary displacement as it

          3  relates to businesses, but like the previous

          4  speaker, I'm here to talk about primary

          5  displacement.

          6                 So while recent press over the summer

          7  has called the downtown Brooklyn boom a renaissance

          8  for the borough, there's another side to the story

          9  that's not discussed nearly as often, and that's the

         10  displacement of viable, thriving small businesses

         11  that have called downtown Brooklyn home for years

         12  before there was talk about redevelopment.

         13                 It was the presumed need for a Class

         14  A office space that spurred the re- zoning of

         15  downtown Brooklyn, but instead of lots of office

         16  buildings, so far we're seeing a lot of residential

         17  construction dot the new skyline.

         18                 But regardless of the intended versus

         19  actual balance of office and residential

         20  construction, small independent businesses have an

         21  important role to play in the future of downtown

         22  Brooklyn and other neighborhoods throughout the

         23  City.

         24                 First, they're a key source of

         25  employment for low and moderate income New Yorkers.
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          2  And, second, they contribute greatly to neighborhood

          3  character, a hard to quantify but widely valued

          4  concept, by offering a contrast to national chain

          5  stores that one can find in any downtown across the

          6  country.  By the environmental impact statement's

          7  own admission, and this is the IES for the 2004

          8  downtown Brooklyn re- zoning, downtown Brooklyn

          9  stands to lose 1,700 largely small business jobs due

         10  to direct displacement.  Even though the

         11  determination was made that this is an insignificant

         12  impact of redevelopment, and thus does not require

         13  any mitigation, no one can deny that 1,700 families

         14  may feel this impact.

         15                 Throughout its 45 year history the

         16  Pratt Center has worked with community groups to

         17  protect the interests of low and moderate income

         18  families, including housing, well paying jobs and

         19  the protection of their neighborhood's essential

         20  character.  We are firmly committed to helping

         21  communities strike a balance between the need for

         22  new investment and development and their desire to

         23  retain the social and economic character of their

         24  neighborhood.  In a City with ever escalating land

         25  values, this is not an easy balance to achieve, but
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          2  we are committed to working with both communities

          3  and the City to do this.

          4                 In the next several months, the Pratt

          5  Center will issue a report that outlines best

          6  practices for small business retention from around

          7  the country since New York City is not the only

          8  large city whose small businesses are under siege by

          9  redevelopment schemes.

         10                 In summary, the City must do right by

         11  small, often family- run businesses, that have

         12  preserved during weak real estate markets and are

         13  now being subjected to direct displacement.  In the

         14  face of downtown Brooklyn's and many other

         15  neighborhoods' redevelopment, real relocation

         16  packages, not merely loan assistance, must be

         17  provided so that these small businesses, which are

         18  the social and economic engines of their

         19  neighborhoods, can continue to thrive.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         21  much.  Next.

         22                 MS. ALSTON:  Thank you.  My name is

         23  Laine Romero- Alston, and I'm going to build off of

         24  the previous two testimonies. I am the Director of

         25  Research and Policy at the Urban Justice Center, and
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          2  we've been partnering with Families United for

          3  Racial and Economic Equality, FUREE, over the last

          4  year and a half to provide them with research and

          5  policy support, as they are really working with

          6  small businesses throughout the downtown Brooklyn

          7  area, as well as residents, to really help to

          8  preserve and defend their community and really help

          9  to come up with some creative and innovative

         10  strategies to really ensure that its equitable

         11  development.

         12                 I commend this panel, and I really

         13  hope that coming out of this that there are some

         14  solutions in terms of supporting small businesses,

         15  which we know are really the backbone of

         16  communities.  But also sort of a comprehensive

         17  approach to preventing gentrification that's going

         18  on throughout the City in low income immigrant

         19  communities and communities of color.

         20                 So what I really wanted to share here

         21  and very much building off of the first testimony

         22  are some initial results of a community- based

         23  research that we've been supporting FUREE to do over

         24  the last year.  We have thus far interviewed 61

         25  small businesses throughout the downtown Brooklyn
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          2  area and are in the process of analyzing that data,

          3  but did an initial analysis of 20 businesses in the

          4  Albee Square Mall because of the very critical

          5  situation that was going on there that was very

          6  explicitly and well explained.

          7                 I really also want to highlight that

          8  the experience that we just heard was not an

          9  isolated experience.  There are a few findings that

         10  I just really wanted to emphasize coming out of

         11  this. The first that there's a history of locally

         12  owned small businesses in the area, not a surprise.

         13  Over 50 percent of the small business owners lived

         14  in Brooklyn, and all of the businesses interviewed

         15  were independent, have a long history in the mall,

         16  and 40 percent of the businesses were there for over

         17  10 years.

         18                 I just want to note, we interviewed

         19  20.  Those were the only ones that still existed

         20  there.  There were about 40 commercial spaces.  The

         21  other ones had already been displaced.

         22                 On the contrary to being an

         23  underutilized area, as we talked about, as deemed by

         24  the City as the basis for the redevelopment plan,

         25  it's the third largest commercial center.  It has a
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          2  vibrant consumer base and a vibrant small business

          3  community. It is primarily communities of color, as

          4  we talked about, Caribbean, African American and

          5  Latino, and therefore what is defined as

          6  underutilized comes into question.

          7                 One thing that was really true is

          8  that 60 percent of the small business owners

          9  actually chose to locate their business in this very

         10  community because that was their consumer base and

         11  that 95 percent of respondents reported seeing their

         12  customers on a repeating basis.

         13                 Obviously, as we talked about, small

         14  businesses provide a small, local employment and

         15  serve the local community, many of whom are lower

         16  and middle income.  All respondents employed

         17  predominantly Brooklyn residents, and 39 percent of

         18  respondents have reported that their employees have

         19  been with them for over six years.

         20                 The current redevelopment plans,

         21  coupled with the history of a disinvestment by

         22  landlords, in this case it was Thor Equities, are

         23  hurting these small businesses, as we heard.  As I

         24  mentioned, at the item we interviewed, nearly half

         25  of the businesses had closed down and been displaced
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          2  already, and it was happening on a daily basis.  We

          3  would go back, and there would be folks who were no

          4  longer there.

          5                 They are doing it in a lot of ways of

          6  harassment of withholding services, of not making

          7  repairs.  The large majority didn't have contracts

          8  and leases, were paying month by month, and so they

          9  were very vulnerable.

         10                 Many small businesses, when we asked

         11  about did they know about the redevelopment plans,

         12  were they consulted, and were they involved in that,

         13  and they said no, which was a very serious issue

         14  because obviously this had serious implications for

         15  them.

         16                 As we heard as well, businesses who

         17  are forced to relocate are suffering.  I'm finishing

         18  up.  80 percent of the respondents only had one

         19  business, no alternative if the business was forced

         20  elsewhere, and, as I said, their customer base was

         21  there.  If they were to start up somewhere else, it

         22  would be starting from scratch.  Obviously, leases

         23  and rents continue to rise in that area, so it felt

         24  like even if I am displaced here, I have nowhere to

         25  go.  I can't afford it.
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          2                 So just a few just very key

          3  recommendations.  I won't go into them in great

          4  detail.  We are passing out a report where they're

          5  gone into in much more detail, and I think actually

          6  Pratt Center's report will be of great use, that

          7  there have been innovative solutions that we can

          8  draw from, and hopefully we can explore more.  But

          9  ultimately we would really hope that no small

         10  businesses have to be displaced as a result of

         11  development as a real, basic fundamental principle.

         12  And that means some real support coming from the

         13  City in terms of rental assistance, in terms of tax

         14  breaks.  And also cracking down on landlords who

         15  might be harassing and taking advantage of small

         16  businesses.  The right to return of those who are

         17  displaced, to come back there, relocation assistance

         18  and comprehensive relocation packages, and a real

         19  priority of minority and women- owned businesses.

         20                 Finally, then I think this issue of

         21  community involvement and voice and true

         22  participation in any development plans that's going

         23  to, in fact, impact them, is done from the get go,

         24  but then also as we are re- evaluating the impact

         25  that it has, that it has to be a priority.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Next.  Thank

          3  you.

          4                 MR. ADAMS:  My name is Gerald Adams,

          5  a member of FUREE, and no papers.  I came down.

          6  Yesterday I thought I'd come down and bring down

          7  some facts and figures and all that, but I spoke to

          8  someone this morning who does not immediately live

          9  in the area to the targeted area.  And first we were

         10  talking about a debate, one of the presidential

         11  debates he had seen and the president was sort of

         12  giving some ugly remarks of the candidates. It was

         13  kind of rote because generally black people when

         14  there be a republican debate, don't hear what

         15  inspire them.  So it's kind of predictable.  But

         16  then I sort of localized things.

         17                 By the way, he was there with his

         18  daughter.  He was standing talking to me with his

         19  daughter, holding the hand of his little daughter.

         20  He began speaking to me about stuff closer to home,

         21  and I brought up this stuff that was closer to home,

         22  what's going on in his immediate area, something

         23  that he should get involved in perhaps.

         24                 He didn't really know all of what was

         25  going on with the gentrification.  I began to tell
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          2  him about certain things.  One of the facts that was

          3  pretty interesting to him that real caught his

          4  attention was this 80/20 deal.  At first he said,

          5  well, if it's like 20 percent for elite incomes and

          6  80 percent for the folks who are actually working

          7  there, then it's fine.  I said, no, it's the

          8  reverse.  It's 80 percent for the elite incomes and

          9  20 percent for those who are actually dropping from

         10  hard work every day.  He felt it absurd, and that is

         11  the absurdity of the situation.

         12                 The more I began to speak with him,

         13  before, he again, a lot of his reactions were, of

         14  course, we're talking about the presidential stuff,

         15  was going through the motions, but now he's really

         16  involved so he's squeezing the hand of his little

         17  daughter ever more tightly, and she's becoming more

         18  uncomfortable.  So it's comic, but it's also very

         19  sad.  Because he's sort of registering his own

         20  frustrations and the frustrations of the community

         21  and also he's kind of passing something on to an

         22  upcoming generation as to really what they'll be

         23  concerned about.  Of course, she's seeing his face

         24  as he's getting more and more angry as I give him

         25  more and more facts.

                                                            84

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 He's seeing that there are people who

          3  are trying hard to follow what's called the American

          4  Dream, and work hard or even open businesses in your

          5  community and if you work hard, it will, you know.

          6  And find that they're not getting any return on

          7  that, find that government, who is supposed to look

          8  on things on parties evenly instead of sort of like

          9  feeding the overgrown giant developers steroids, and

         10  they're letting the smaller growing businesses fall

         11  to the side.  And, of course, this has all kinds of

         12  ramifications though he was not a business person.

         13  By the way, ultimately, maybe they maybe don't want

         14  to speak, it's not all that easy coming up here and

         15  speaking.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I'm going to

         17  have to ask you to wrap up a little quick because we

         18  have I think two more panels after this, and we're

         19  up against our deadline.  So please sum up, if you

         20  can.

         21                 MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So my feeling is

         22  that this is something that we're not even just

         23  talking about a local area. We're talking about a

         24  mass of people, a class of people, largely a race of

         25  people, and when you move them, where do you move
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          2  them do after they've moved deeper and deeper into

          3  Brooklyn, where else will they have to move?  I know

          4  that there's lots of perhaps opportunities, openings

          5  right now in Iraq because there's mass exodus from

          6  Iraq, but you know the MTA hasn't built any subways

          7  that go to Iraq, so those apartments are not open.

          8  So I shouldn't have brought grim visage war into

          9  this particular setting, but nonetheless it has some

         10  application because the people who are living in

         11  these neighborhoods feel that they are in a war,

         12  that they are under attack and that those in

         13  government are, unfortunately, helping the

         14  developers.  Thank you.

         15                 MS. DUBIN:  Good afternoon.  My name

         16  is Rachael Dubin, and on behalf of the Southwest

         17  Brooklyn Industrial Development Corporation, I would

         18  like to thank Council Members Yassky and Council

         19  Member Brewer for having today's hearing.

         20                 Typically, when people think of mom

         21  and pop stores, visions of the corner hardware

         22  store, coffee shop and clothing boutique come to

         23  mind, but in my line of work, the mom and pop stores

         24  are the ones that manufacture the hardware, roast

         25  and bag the coffee beans and cut and sew the
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          2  clothing.

          3                 These businesses have the same

          4  challenges that you've heard today, but they have

          5  the added challenge of needing to be located in a

          6  manufacturing zone.  This requirement is becoming

          7  increasingly difficult for a few reasons.  First,

          8  more of New York City's manufacturing zones are

          9  being re- zoned for residential uses, leaving less

         10  viable space to house businesses.  Second,

         11  manufacturing businesses increasingly must compete

         12  with other as of right uses such as hotels and super

         13  stores, which are capable of paying much more per

         14  square foot than industrial firm can afford.       Not

         15  only are these non- industrial uses competing with

         16  manufacturing businesses, but they alter the

         17  environment of the manufacturing zone itself, thus

         18  making it more difficult for existing neighboring

         19  businesses to continue to operate.

         20                 For instance, we expect the following

         21  issues to arise once the Ikea opens in Red Hook.

         22  First, congestion generated by the development will

         23  add an average of 1,077 private vehicle trips into

         24  and out of the area per day, creating delivery and

         25  shipping delays, idle traffic and loading time and
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          2  failed delivery deadlines.  Moreover, Ikea's

          3  presence in Red Hook has already put upward pressure

          4  on sale and rental prices in the area, making it all

          5  the more difficult for these businesses to find

          6  viable space.

          7                 We believe that the upcoming rezoning

          8  in Gowanus presents a great opportunity for some of

          9  these issues to be resolved.  Thus far, we have been

         10  very pleased with City Planning study as it prepares

         11  its framework for rezoning in the area.  We are

         12  especially pleased that DCP has signaled that a

         13  significant portion of the neighborhood will remain

         14  manufacturing.  However, as you can see from my

         15  comments thus far, the M designation does not give

         16  businesses the protection or security they need to

         17  invest in and expand their businesses.

         18                 I would like to offer two zoning

         19  tools developed by the Zoning for Jobs Coalition

         20  that could resolve some of these issues.  Zoning for

         21  Jobs, an effort spearheaded by the New York

         22  Industrial Retention Network, includes approximately

         23  60 unions, community groups and environmental

         24  justice organizations that united to advocate for

         25  new land use strategies to promote the retention of
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          2  well- paying blue collar jobs.

          3                 The first tool is industrial

          4  employment districts, a new type of zoning tool that

          5  would be mapped as an overlay in the City's most

          6  dense, industrial areas such as the existing

          7  industrial business zones.  It would require a

          8  special permit for non manufacturing uses currently

          9  only allowed as of right in these areas, such as

         10  super stores, waste transfer stations, hotels and

         11  large offices.  This special permit process would

         12  help stabilize real estate costs.  At the same time,

         13  industrial employment districts would allow a new

         14  office or housing development in adjacent areas

         15  without setting off pressure within the industrial

         16  employment district themselves.

         17                 Resolution 141 currently before the

         18  Council would initiate an application to City

         19  Planning to create industrial employment districts.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Ms. Dubin, I'm

         21  going to just have to ask you to sum up, if you can.

         22                 MS. DUBIN:  Okay, the second one is

         23  basically a new kind of mixed use zoning tool that

         24  would require that ground floor manufacturing be

         25  allowed to exist while residential be built above.
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          2  Within the 2030 plan, the Mayor says that we need to

          3  use land more efficiently.  What better way of doing

          4  that than combining these uses in a more creative

          5  way.  We're hoping that that will actually be

          6  required in parts of Gowanus.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you very

          8  much, and I know we're going to move on, but I just

          9  want to thank Ms. Crespo.  You said that you'll have

         10  a set of recommendations forthcoming in you said a

         11  period of months.  I would say as soon as you can

         12  and even if they're kind of preliminary, I hope

         13  you'll be able to get them to Council Member Brewer

         14  and myself because it definitely it is our intention

         15  to keep the dialogue going and now turn it to focus

         16  on what we can actually do.  So I would welcome that

         17  set of recommendations.  Thank you.  I'm sorry.

         18  Council Member James.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  In those

         20  recommendations, if you could include

         21  recommendations on reforming J51's and ICIP, that

         22  would be helpful.  We're about to begin those

         23  discussions, and I believe we should provide some

         24  protections to these small businesses.

         25                 I also would like to meet with those
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          2  20 businesses in downtown Brooklyn.  In fact, I

          3  reached out to Ms. Morales last year and asked her

          4  to organize, and I want to talk to her after this

          5  meeting.  I did not hear from her, and I would like

          6  to continue to those discussions.  I believe 80/20

          7  is a raw deal, particularly on the downtown

          8  Brooklyn, that Willoughby site.  I know that the new

          9  financier, Mr. McFarland, who they hail as just

         10  because he's African American means nothing to me.

         11  The fact is that I have 40 businesses which are now

         12  being displaced in downtown Brooklyn, and we really

         13  need to find them a place in downtown Brooklyn, and

         14  there should be a priority to small and minority

         15  owned businesses.  You're absolutely right and on

         16  point.  So I thank you and look forward to following

         17  up on these discussions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         19  much, and make sure you include the West Side in

         20  your study.  The next panel is Judy Stanton, Evan

         21  Mason, Ken Freeman and Sandy Balboza.  Please join

         22  us.  Whomever would like to get started, go ahead

         23  because we're very time conscious.

         24                 MS. MASON:  I know you're pressed for

         25  time.  Thank you very much for having these
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          2  hearings.  I see you're an action panel, and that's

          3  nice to get that sense.  I also applaud the amazing

          4  testimony.  I learned a lot, took a lot of notes.

          5                 My name is Evan Mason.  I'm here

          6  representing Landmark West, which is a preservation

          7  advocacy group located on the Upper West Side, and I

          8  live very close to your office right off Columbus

          9  Avenue.  I'm testifying both on behalf of Landmark

         10  West and on behalf of myself because I became

         11  alarmed in the last six months or so when I noticed

         12  that more and more stores are getting pushed out due

         13  to high rent.  There are three within one block of

         14  my house that are now empty and have been for

         15  awhile.

         16                 What I want to bring to this

         17  conversation is a little bit of a connection between

         18  the pain of the people, which we've heard about, and

         19  also a little bit about the buildings. Landmark West

         20  is a preservation advocacy organization.  Together

         21  with our great historic architecture, it is these

         22  small businesses that establish the identity and the

         23  place that is unique to the Upper West Side.  As

         24  historians and preservationists, we know this is not

         25  new or unique to New York City because New York City
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          2  has always been a place of constant change.

          3                 As apartment flats on the avenue are

          4  demolished to make way for out of scale luxury

          5  housing, large street level stores are created,

          6  which invite big box chain stores since they alone

          7  can afford the increased rent.  We often don't pair

          8  the development issues with the big luxury towers

          9  with what happens to the store fronts and those big

         10  streetscapes, which have radically changed.

         11                 State and city government even

         12  encouraged this dramatic shift through financial

         13  incentives to the developers that conceive of these

         14  huge projects.  When we lose the smaller scale

         15  historic buildings, we lose pieces of our

         16  neighborhood and our identity.  The soft patina of

         17  aged brick, intricate cornices and friezes disappear

         18  and are replaced by sharp edges, big boxes and

         19  anonymity.

         20                 The engine that stokes the train that

         21  runs the small businesses off the track is the

         22  behemoth large- scale development that is quite

         23  literally overtaking the Upper West Side.  Big box

         24  chains like the square, predictable nature of street

         25  level spaces rendered by the large scale new
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          2  development.  That way, they can design the

          3  interiors at headquarters, wherever that is, and

          4  know where the flip- flops are long distance without

          5  ever having set foot in the area.

          6                 So our neighborhood loses the local

          7  mom and pop stores that have allegiance to our

          8  neighborhood and to the companies that don't care or

          9  recognize what the Upper East Side is, Dallas is,

         10  Denver is, Brooklyn, it doesn't matter.  It's all

         11  one.

         12                 So what can be done to bring some

         13  balance to this out of control situation?  Financial

         14  inducements and encouraged demolition of our small-

         15  scale historic buildings should be reduced or

         16  eliminated.  If big box foot prints is not

         17  subsidized through tax and other incentives, then

         18  our neighborhoods become less hospitable to big box

         19  stores.

         20                 Historic districts can be expanded

         21  and zoning adopted to control out- of- scale

         22  development since these measures preserve the

         23  existing foot print and scale.  We must preserve

         24  both small businesses and small buildings while

         25  putting on the brakes of large- scale development,
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          2  and Landmark West stands ready to help in any way

          3  that we can.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

          5  much.  Next.

          6                 MS. BELBOZA:  Good afternoon.  My

          7  name is Sandy Balboza.  I hope my Councilman is

          8  going to come back.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  He'll be right

         10  back.

         11                 MS. BELBOZA:  I'm President of the

         12  Atlantic Avenue Betterment Association, a grass

         13  roots membership organization representing merchants

         14  and residents on and around Atlantic Avenue for a 12

         15  block stretch from Hicks to 4th Avenue.  We border

         16  Brooklyn Heights, Cobble Hill and go through Boerum

         17  Hill.

         18                 A lot of people have spoken about how

         19  important these small retail strips are to the

         20  surrounding neighborhoods, so we have three that we

         21  touch.  We also get tourists from all around the

         22  world.

         23                 This shopping guide, which I passed

         24  around, because I don't have copies of my testimony,

         25  represent part of Atlantic Avenue.  There are about
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          2  130 retail businesses, restaurants, boutique shops.

          3  Without being too dramatic, they might not be here

          4  for much longer.  So I think I'm just going to read

          5  my testimony, and that will explain that.

          6                 In the past five years on Atlantic

          7  Avenue and surrounding streets, 2,000 more units of

          8  residential housing have been built.  Fourth Avenue

          9  has been upzoned, and there is a building boom there

         10  as well.  Atlantic Yards proposes to add another

         11  5,200 units of housing.  It means that we are adding

         12  a whole new city with some 30,000 people to a small

         13  area in downtown Brooklyn.  The City's policy of

         14  offering generous tax abatements and grants to large

         15  developers has put enormous development pressure on

         16  our communities.

         17                 While big development projects get

         18  pushed through, there is little help to sustain

         19  small businesses and nurture its growth.  Although

         20  development has brought new customers to many shops

         21  on Atlantic Avenue, it has also brought higher rents

         22  and higher taxes, forcing many of our small shops to

         23  close or move out of the neighborhood.

         24                 We estimate that the 200 plus

         25  businesses on this 12 block strip add more than
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          2  2,000 jobs in the City economy.  We know that

          3  nationally and locally small businesses are the most

          4  cost effective in adding new jobs.  No big

          5  government subsidy is sought. No big public finance

          6  is required.

          7                 Owners of Atlantic Avenue shops

          8  represent New York City in ethnic, racial and gender

          9  make up.  At least half are women- owned businesses.

         10    Atlantic Avenue has been able to attract young,

         11  creative entrepreneurs for more than 30 years.  It

         12  has been a place where incubator businesses could

         13  get started.  However, rents that were increasing

         14  slowly at steady increments are now escalating

         15  rapidly.  A popular Mexican restaurant had to move

         16  when the already high rent of $7,000 per month went

         17  to $10,000.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  If you could

         19  just sum up, that would be great.  Start to sum up.

         20  Your Council Member has returned.

         21                 MS. BELBOZA:  I see him.  Well, I

         22  just want to say that that restaurant was able to

         23  stay in the neighborhood because he actually owned a

         24  building a few stores down, but he forced out

         25  another business.  There were eight buildings that
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          2  were first sold and then flipped and then an

          3  investor bought a couple of years ago, and all of

          4  those businesses were forced out, and most of them

          5  minority owned businesses like the Lewis Gallery,

          6  because the rents were doubling.  So I had some

          7  suggestions, but I think if there's some sort of

          8  task force, that will be talked about at some point.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We would love to

         10  have you be part of it.  Thank you very much.

         11                 MS. BELBOZA:  Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.

         13  Next.

         14                 MR. FREEMAN:  Hi, I'm Ken Freeman.

         15  I'm the President of the Park Slope Civic Council.

         16  I'd like to thank the Council for your leadership on

         17  this issue.  I think it's an issue that clearly has

         18  a deep well of support in the community.

         19                 The Park Slope neighborhood has been

         20  protected from this issue for a long time by virtue

         21  of the fact that our storefronts are relatively

         22  small, and the national chains weren't really

         23  interested in a 20 foot wide store.  We've seen that

         24  change recently, as I guess the income of our

         25  neighborhood has increased and the demand to be
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          2  there has increased as well.

          3                 The particular bug a boo that I think

          4  is at least my personal issue, the ATM banks that

          5  don't have any people in them, they're just machines

          6  in a storefront, and you see the street in front of

          7  them often littered and there's homeless people

          8  holding the door, that sort of thing.

          9                 The Park Slope Civic Council has

         10  formed a task force, a committee, we call it the

         11  Bilocal Committee.  We are in the process of trying

         12  to come up with our own plans to encourage the

         13  neighborhood to buy local.  We have a couple of

         14  different things we're considering and some

         15  suggestions that I guess you guys will consider as

         16  well.

         17                 The number one issue that we're

         18  working on is awareness in the neighborhood.  We

         19  found, if you remember before Catherine, who was the

         20  Community Book Store lady, we found that just by

         21  virtue of the fact that we sent the word around to

         22  the neighborhood, and she sent the word around to

         23  the neighborhood, the community rallied around her,

         24  and obviously the best way to keep businesses local

         25  is to have them perform well, and that makes
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          2  everyone's life easier.  So we're working on an

          3  awareness campaign for the neighborhood.

          4                 Another thing that we're considering

          5  is a program, you might be familiar with the Ithaca

          6  dollars program, the Ithaca bucks.  If you're not,

          7  you should check it out.  Ithaca, New York has a

          8  dollars that they're actually, they're local

          9  dollars. They're only good in local stores, and

         10  effectively it's like you're getting a discount when

         11  you use those dollars because it's 10 percent better

         12  or something like that.  But they're only good in

         13  that local community.  That's something that we're

         14  going to be exploring as well.  It's obviously a

         15  much more complicated program.

         16                 Another opportunity, this is really

         17  in your realm, would be some sort of a lending

         18  program to encourage ownership of the buildings by

         19  the small businesses.  You've heard a lot about that

         20  today.  I would just caution that to make sure that

         21  there's some sort of strings on that type of program

         22  because even if there's a small business owner

         23  operating in that business, at some point the rents

         24  being proposed to them by the national chains,

         25  they'll have no choice really but to run their
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          2  business.  They're making $5,000 a week.  Someone's

          3  going to pay them $10,000 to sit at home and do

          4  nothing.  So if there is some sort of program like

          5  that, I heard someone describe it as a sort of rent

          6  control or rent stabilization for businesses.  I

          7  would just make sure that there's some sort of a

          8  tail at the end of that, so you don't help someone

          9  buy the building and then they just sell it out to a

         10  national five years later and that ends the benefit

         11  of that program.

         12                 Finally, some sort of a zoning

         13  solution, which I heard you talk about earlier.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you all

         16  very much.  It's a pleasure to have you here, and we

         17  look forward to your input.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I just want to

         19  add my thanks. I think that neighborhood dollars

         20  idea is really intriguing.  I definitely would like

         21  to learn more about that.  The idea that you were

         22  trying to bring the neighborhood into it, I think

         23  that is absolutely right.  You really couldn't

         24  address this issue without the neighborhood and

         25  people deciding, okay, we are going to make a
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          2  commitment to because we value this, we will show it

          3  with our dollars day to day.  I think that without

          4  that, really impossible. So I commend you for doing

          5  it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Let me just

          7  say that in Bedford Stuyvesant, there's a similar

          8  program that they've implemented with respect to

          9  rotating and maintaining and keeping the dollars in

         10  the Bedford Stuyvesant community.  So I think that

         11  they are a model.

         12                 Let me also say that I think Park

         13  Slope has not sort of resisted the change.  I was

         14  born in Park Slope, and it has changed dramatically,

         15  and, unfortunately, the complexion has changed

         16  drastically and the diversity on 7th Avenue

         17  unfortunately, there's a lack of diversity on 7th

         18  Avenue.

         19                 So I would hope that we would focus

         20  on and I hope the City Administration would look at

         21  the impact that zoning and other subsidies that we

         22  offer to businesses, look at the impact that it has

         23  on ethnic make up and on diversity with respect to

         24  businesses.  Because some communities are looking

         25  very monolithic and that's really unfortunate and
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          2  it's really a disservice to all residents of the

          3  City of New York.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you all

          5  very much.  The next panel is Andrew Berman,

          6  Catherine Barnett and Steve Zeitlin. Who would like

          7  to start?

          8                 MS. BARNETT:  The microphone's in

          9  front of me, so I guess I will.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Go right ahead.

         11                 MS. BARNETT:  Good afternoon, Chair

         12  Brewer and Chair Yassky and all the members of the

         13  Small Business and Technology in Government

         14  Committees.  Thank you for the opportunity to share

         15  our testimony today.  My name is Catherine Barnett.

         16  I'm from Project Enterprise.  I'm the Vice-

         17  President of Project Enterprise, and we are a micro

         18  lender serving small businesses in all of the

         19  boroughs of New York City.

         20                 I have enjoyed the testimony so far,

         21  and I don't need to kind of rehash some of the

         22  things that we heard in terms of the rent issues

         23  that small business owners face because obviously no

         24  one can speak more eloquently about the issues

         25  facing small businesses than the entrepreneurs

                                                            103

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  themselves.

          3                 I would like to just speak a little

          4  bit about some of the technology issues which is

          5  part of the reason why we were convened today.  I am

          6  really sorry that Commissioner Walsh had to step

          7  away.  There are a couple of issues that I think are

          8  of concern that we should make sure that we address

          9  as we're looking at the whole panorama of small

         10  businesses.  One is the need for a community

         11  campaign to really heighten the awareness of what

         12  services the City does provide among small business

         13  owners.

         14                 Two being making a distinction

         15  between the needs of small and micro businesses at

         16  the Department of Small Business level because

         17  there's a big difference between a small business

         18  employing 30 people and a micro business employing

         19  one to three people.  We really need to make sure

         20  that those micro businesses, their needs are looked

         21  at and addressed in a unique way.

         22                 Thirdly, realistic approach to the

         23  small business access to technology here in New York

         24  City.

         25                 Fourth, we want to re- visit one of
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          2  the topics that we've presented on before, which is

          3  an issue for small businesses who access financing

          4  from micro lenders that a lot of us are still unable

          5  to report their payments to the credit bureau

          6  industries.

          7                 We heard earlier from Commissioner

          8  Walsh about the Business Express program that they

          9  are implementing that's going to make streamlining

         10  in making things much easier for small businesses to

         11  access all the forms and the regulations and things

         12  like that. That's really great, and I commend the

         13  Department of Small Business for that, but in terms

         14  of making sure that all of the small businesses

         15  throughout the five boroughs are made aware of what

         16  those changes are, and how to access them in a way

         17  not just having to come to a workshop, but also he

         18  talked a little bit about canvassing, but a lot more

         19  being done going door to door to small businesses.

         20  Because a lot of these mom and pop businesses don't

         21  have the capability to leave their storefront to go

         22  and hear a seminar or get the training and

         23  information.

         24                 When you have a situation where

         25  people may want to get the information online, not
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          2  every small business even has access on their store

          3  premises to technology.  Even when we were listening

          4  earlier today, we asked the question and not very

          5  people spoke about whether they were doing business

          6  online or whether they have that capability, so we

          7  have to also think about some other options and

          8  other ways of distributing that information to make

          9  sure that small business owners know what it is that

         10  the City is offering, is not offering.  We can't

         11  really depend on a concerned business owner to

         12  photocopy copies of laws or ordinances.  We really

         13  need to make sure that we can give the information

         14  to people in a way that's available to them, whether

         15  they have access to a computer or not.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I'm going to

         17  have ask you to just sum up.

         18                 MS. BARNETT:  Yes, I will.  Even in

         19  the case where they may be technology savvy,

         20  entrepreneurs sometimes there's not availability

         21  accessing consistent internet connectivity.  One of

         22  the areas that we work in is East New York,

         23  Brooklyn, and there are business owners out there,

         24  and in terms of being able to access information,

         25  it's not always consistent the level of service that
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          2  is available.  So in terms of appropriate computer

          3  and technology access across the City, it needs to

          4  happen outside of the Borough of Manhattan as well.

          5                 My last point is just really wanting

          6  to remind the City Council and bring it to the fore

          7  the fact that a lot of our small businesses, they

          8  work very hard, and when they do need capital for

          9  their businesses, we've talked about how many banks

         10  actually come into the neighborhoods and may

         11  displace them.  A lot of those banks are not even

         12  able to help the small businesses that are there,

         13  and that's where a micro lender like Project

         14  Enterprise comes into place.

         15                 However, even when we do lend to

         16  those small businesses, we're not even able to

         17  report on the good payments that they do make

         18  because of the issue and the recent change in the

         19  last couple of years that the big three credit

         20  bureaus have made where they will not accept

         21  individual reports for individual businesses in a

         22  positive payment histories.  They will accept that

         23  for negative on an individual basis, but not for

         24  positive.  You need to have a certain number of

         25  reports, and maybe there's something that can be
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          2  done.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  I'm glad you're

          4  raising that issue again.  This I think is something

          5  that we really do have the capacity to address in

          6  the Council, and I know that Chair Brewer and I are

          7  both very much interested in doing that, and we will

          8  follow up with you on that idea because I think

          9  that's a real good one.

         10                 MS. BARNETT:  Okay, great.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you.

         13                 MS. RICE:  Can I just add a 30 second

         14  comment. Very, very quickly.  I'm Arva Rice.  I'm

         15  the Executive Director of Project Enterprise, and in

         16  addition to the internet access to also look at

         17  cables as well and also look at cell phones.  All of

         18  our members do have cell phones.  If even they don't

         19  have a computer, and so various ways in which that

         20  small businesses could download that information

         21  onto their cell phones would also be another use of

         22  technology.

         23                 MR. ZEITLIN:  My name is Steve

         24  Zeitlin.  I'm the Director of City Lore, a cultural

         25  center on the Lower East Side. We have a budget of
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          2  over $2 million, and our purpose is to further the

          3  cultural heritage of New York.

          4                 When we founded City Lore in 1986,

          5  one of our first projects was called Endangered

          6  Spaces, and it was specifically trying to help local

          7  cultural sites to find ways to be able to perpetuate

          8  themselves, and we've been working in that vein for

          9  many years.

         10                 In the 90's we created a project

         11  called Place Matters, which is a collaboration with

         12  the Municipal Art Society. We're the authors of the

         13  book Hidden New York, a guide to places that matter.

         14    We've been involved in getting a number of local

         15  grass roots sites on the national register, as well

         16  as on New York City landmarks.

         17                 I want to take a minute to kind of

         18  suggest something new that has come out of our work

         19  as another kind of approach that you might consider.

         20    I just wanted to suggest that one of the things

         21  that we've looked into and researched is the idea of

         22  commercial rent control.  I know that's something

         23  that's been brought up a number of times, and is

         24  often times, both in New York and in cities around

         25  the country, because very few cities, if any, have
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          2  commercial control, is that it's simply costly to do

          3  something like that across the board.

          4                 But I want to suggest a kind of

          5  cultural landmarking that we feel like is something

          6  that can be done.  We believe that what can be done

          7  in New York is to try to identify mom and pop stores

          8  that are central to neighborhoods and to have a kind

          9  of landmarks commission of sorts that specifically

         10  addresses those kinds of places where people can

         11  apply in an open process, and communities can show

         12  their support for these places.  We can give credit

         13  to minority- owned businesses and things like that.

         14  So there's a select number of businesses that are

         15  selected for cultural tax abatements.

         16                 We believe that's a lot more feasible

         17  than giving those tax abatements to everyone.

         18  There's 200,000 small businesses in New York, and

         19  you can't possibly give all of them rent

         20  stabilization, but if there's a cultural landmarking

         21  system run similar to the Landmarks Commission.  So

         22  that let's say there's 100 or 200 mom and pop stores

         23  or local cherished established that are able to show

         24  significant community support, they would qualify

         25  for those kinds of abatements.  So it's not such a
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          2  costly project for the City to undertake.  It's a

          3  new way of looking at it.  It could be run through

          4  the Department of Cultural Affairs or an institution

          5  like that.  It's a new way of approaching the

          6  problem of mom and pop stores in the City.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We need to wrap

          8  up.

          9                 MR. ZEITLIN:  I want to suggest to

         10  you too, David. I want to make sure you're listening

         11  to me because I really do feel, and I have felt for

         12  the 20 years I've run City Lore that cultural

         13  landmarking of mom and pop stores that are important

         14  to neighborhoods, because not all local businesses

         15  are that relevant to the community's significance

         16  and the neighborhood life.  But if you create a

         17  system where places can demonstrate that

         18  significance, you can limit the number of places

         19  that you're giving that abatement to and save the

         20  character of New York City.  I feel like this is an

         21  important point, and I would love to see it

         22  responded to.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We agree.  I

         24  think what we're seeing as a result of today's

         25  incredibly successful hearing is that there are just
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          2  many City agencies that have never sat down to

          3  discuss how you save small business in all aspects.

          4  I think that the Commissioner heard us loud and

          5  clear.  Certainly, I know we've spoken to many of

          6  the Commissioners whom we listed to him whom he

          7  should be in touch with in the last year or so.  I

          8  think this hearing will precipitate and Cultural

          9  Affairs should be part of that.  So I appreciate you

         10  bringing that in.

         11                 I just want to speak for myself to

         12  thank this panel, to thank everyone who participated

         13  today, who has hung in today. I just want to mention

         14  that Ms. Rice has a wonderful company called, Rice

         15  Cakes.  You should all check it out because she's

         16  got great cakes.

         17                 In the general, I want to say that

         18  this is a really important issue.  There's tax

         19  issues, planning issues, zoning issues, technology

         20  issues.  There's no end to the way in which this

         21  issue of saving small stores can be approached, but

         22  it's imminent, and I think it was loud and clear

         23  today, so I thank every one of the participants, and

         24  I thank certainly Council Member James for hanging

         25  in there.  Thank you, Council Member, Co- Chair,
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          2  Small Business Chair, Yassky.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you.  I

          4  also want to sum up by saying that I do think this

          5  hearing really did accomplish what I was hoping it

          6  would.  I think we've painted a very clear and not

          7  wholly attractive picture of what's going on, and

          8  now we have to figure out where to re- paint to make

          9  it the picture that we want it to be.

         10                 But I really appreciate everybody who

         11  came to take your time during your day and help us

         12  do this because I think that we have laid out the

         13  dimensions of the problem.  That's always the first

         14  step toward then solving it, so at least we've taken

         15  that first step.

         16                 I just want to thank the Committee

         17  staff, Kris Sartori and Ron Kim for putting this

         18  together and also in my office staff, Marion Wood,

         19  who I know the staff, and your staff as well

         20  although I don't know them by name.  I just want to

         21  say the staff put in a really an unusual amount of

         22  effort to assemble folks who can illustrate this

         23  problem, so I just thank them for that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And certainly

         25  Jeff Baker from our office, from the Speaker's
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          2  Office, Counsel to the Committee and Colleen Pagter,

          3  who's the Policy Analyst and Chief of Staff in our

          4  office, Sheila Warren.  Thank you all.  This hearing

          5  concludes.

          6                      (Hearing concluded at 3:26 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
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          9                 I, DEBORAH RICHARDS, do hereby

         10  certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate

         11  transcript of the within proceeding.
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         13  related to any of the parties to this action by
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         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 6th day of September 2007.
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